
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, February 27, 2025 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

 AGENDA 

Link to join Webinar 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86081189885 

Webinar ID: 860 8118 9885 

1. Call to Order:  3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of January 23, 2025

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda

a. From General Fund

i. $2,022.72 – Fishbeck Invoice 448686 (W.O. 2025-1 Gen. Env.)

ii. $285.25 – Fishbeck Invoice 448692 (W.O. 2025-2 KVHH)

b. From Local Brownfield Revolving Fund

i. $4,534.50 – Fishbeck Invoice 448166 (W.O. 2024-2 YWCA)

c. From EPA Grant Fund

i. $5,916.87 – Fishbeck Invoice 448689 (W.O. #18 J. Smith Ent.)

ii. $1,094.28 – Fishbeck Invoice 448685 (W.O. #2 Outreach & Programmatic)

d. KCBRA Business

i. 2024 Administrative Expense Allocations

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Action: Pavilion Investors, LLC

i. Fishbeck Fact Sheet for Brownfield Plan

ii. Pavilion Investors, LLC Brownfield Plan

b. Action: Planning Dept MOU

c. Action: Developer Invoice Packets for Eligible Expenses in Brownfield Plans

i. Schupan (Midlink BFP) Total Eligible Expenses $1,272,239.00

d. Discussion: Fishbeck

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary

Item 3 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86081189885


8. Financial Reports

a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. Staff Attended Southwest Michigan First State of Economic Development 1/30/25

b. Pavilion Investors, LLC BFP Presentation to Pavilion Township 3/10/25

c. Pavilion Investors, LLC Development Agreement Draft Pending

d. Tentative Date for KCBRA Vacancy Interviews with BAC 3/13/25 @ 4:00 p.m.

e. Tentative Date for Brownfields Admin. Presentation to St. Joe County BRA 3/20/25

f. Post KCBRA 2025 Retreat Materials for 3/27/25

10. Other

11. Board Member Comments

12. Adjournment

Next Regular Meeting: Thursday, March 27, 2025, at 3:00 p.m. 

MEETING HELD ON THE THIRD THURSDAY OF THE MONTH 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, January 23, 2025 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

 DRAFT - MINUTES 

Present: Christopher Carew, Chad Goodwill, Kyle Gulau, Jodi Milks, Monteze Morales, and 
Andrew Wenzel 

Members Excused: 2 

Vacancies:  1 

Kalamazoo Township: Craig Sherwood 

Oshtemo Township: none 

Staff: Macy Rose Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 

Consultant:  Therese Searles, Fishbeck 

Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters 

County Commissioners: Monteze Morales  

County Admin: none 

 Community: 3 

1. Call to Order: Director Carew called the meeting to order at 3:05 p.m.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: Six (6) of eight (8) voting members were present.
Jared Lutz and Kenneth Peregon were excused, Commissioner Morales attended
the meeting virtually in accordance with ADA accommodations consistent with
2022 OAG 7318. There is one (1) vacancy.

3. Approval of the Agenda:

Director Wenzel moved to approve item 3 and Director Milks seconded. None
opposed, motion carried.

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of December 19, 2024

Director Wenzel moved to approve item 4, the minutes of December 19, 2024, Director
Goodwill seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda

a. From General Fund

i. $20,745.47 - FY24Q4 Reimbursement to Planning Dept
ii. $638.24 $683.24 – Fishbeck Invoice 447349 (W.O. 2024-1 Gen. Env.)

Item 4



b. From EPA Grant Fund

i. $2,087.83 – Fishbeck Invoice 447348 (W.O. #2 Outreach & Programmatic)

ii. $1,027.43 – Fishbeck Invoice 447355 (W.O.#18 J Smith Ent.)

c. Project Business:

i. Vicksburg Mill Paper City

1. $150.43 - FY25Q1 Admin Invoice for EGLE Loan (State Fiscal
Year)

2. FY25Q1 Authorization for Staff to submit EGLE Loan Report (state
fiscal year)

3. $391.76 $65.00 – Reimbursement to Paper City Development for
FY24Q3 Loan (EGLE approved 8/23/2024)

4. $20,141.96 – Reimbursement to Paper City Development for
FY24Q4 Loan (EGLE approved 1/9/2025)

Director Milks moved to approve item 6 as presented, Director Wenzel seconded. 
None opposed, motion carried. 

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Action: Kalamazoo Valley Habitat for Humanity

i. Part I & Part II Project Applications

Director Goodwill moved to approve items 7ai as presented, waiving the application 
fee, Director Wenzel seconded. None opposed, motion carried.  

ii. Fishbeck W.O. 2025 – 2 – Habitat

Director Milks moved to approve items 7aii as presented, Director Gulau seconded. 
None opposed, motion carried.  

b. Action: Pavilion Investors, LLC Part I & Part II Project Applications

Director Wenzel moved to approve items 7b as presented, Director Milks seconded. 
None opposed, motion carried.  

c. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck Consultant Searles presented the reports.

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary

8. Financial Reports Staff presented the financial reports.
a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243

i. Fiscal Year 2024 Q4 Report

ii. General Fund Balance Investment Discussion



 

  
 

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report  

 
 

9. Staff Report/Updates Staff presented updates/reports 
a. BRA Staff met with Director Gulau 1/15/25 for KCBRA 101 

b. BOC Board Appointments Committee meeting at 1/23/25 @ 4:00 p.m. 

c. BRA Staff to present Brownfields 101 to Oshtemo Township 1/28/2025 

d. BRA Staff to present Brownfields 101 to Pavilion Township 2/10/2025 

e. KCBRA 2025 Board Retreat at Anna Whitten Hall 2/13/2025 

The KCBRA Board Retreat was held in room 207-A of the Kalamazoo County 
Administration Building on 2/13/2025 

 
10. Other  

11. Board Member Comments  

12. Adjournment Director Wenzel moved to adjourn at 4:24 p.m. Director Milks seconded. 
none opposed, motion carried. 

 

 

Next Regular Meeting: Thursday, February 27, 2024, at 3:00 p.m.  

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 

 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM  

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

 

 Macy Rose Walters 
 Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
 Kalamazoo County Government 
 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
 Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2025

Current Billings 2,022.72
Amount Due This Bill 2,022.72

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR 2025 - General Review 2025 20,000.00 20,000.00 1,802.50 0.00 1,802.50
Rate Labor 1,802.50

CAS 2025 - Contractural Administrative 
Support 2025

1,000.00 1,000.00 220.22 0.00 220.22

Rate Labor 210.00
Unit Rate Expense 10.22

Total Fee : 21,000.00
To Date Billings : 2,022.72
Total Remaining : 18,977.28

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 448686
Invoice Date : 2/14/2025

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT3

Item 6 a i 



Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   448686
GR 2025 - General Review 2025
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 1/6/2025 0.50 105.0000 52.50
emails with Macy re: survey

1/7/2025 0.75 105.0000 78.75
LBRF planning re: other communities and scope question re: 234/235

1/8/2025 0.50 105.0000 52.50
Taco Bob potential project emails

1/13/2025 1.00 105.0000 105.00
Housing TIF presentation updates

1/14/2025 1.00 105.0000 105.00
Delta reimbursement evaluation, LBRF planning

1/17/2025 2.00 105.0000 210.00
Habitat project discussion and work order prep

1/28/2025 2.50 105.0000 262.50
prep, travel, present Oshtemo Township BF 101 and HTIF

1/29/2025 0.25 105.0000 26.25
Pavillion Investors

1/31/2025 0.50 105.0000 52.50
LBRF retreat planning

Total Therese Searles 9.00 945.00
Total Senior Geologist 9.00 945.00

Senior Hydrogeologist
Jeffrey Hawkins 1/29/2025 1.00 150.0000 150.00

reviewed and responded to emails regarding LCBRA retreat, reviewed survey, began prepping for 
retreat1

1/31/2025 0.75 150.0000 112.50
preplanning retreat meeting with Therese and Logan

Total Jeffrey Hawkins 1.75 262.50
Total Senior Hydrogeologist 1.75 262.50

Staff Environmental Specialist
Logan Mulholland 1/3/2025 0.50 85.0000 42.50

RE Greg, Review LC Howard TIF Tracking, Email Shannon
1/7/2025 0.50 85.0000 42.50

Communication w Greg Terrill
1/9/2025 1.00 85.0000 85.00

review documentation from Delta Marriot Plan
1/14/2025 0.50 85.0000 42.50

edit Delta Marriot Reimbursement Request
1/15/2025 2.00 85.0000 170.00

edit Delta Marriot Reimbursement Request, meet w TMS
1/20/2025 1.25 85.0000 106.25

edit reimbursement request, email Tracy
1/28/2025 0.50 85.0000 42.50

QR, retreat communication
1/31/2025 0.75 85.0000 63.75

pre planning meeting w TMS and JCH
Total Logan Mulholland 7.00 595.00

Total Staff Environmental Specialist 7.00 595.00
Total Rate Labor 1,802.50

Total Bill Task: GR 2025 - General Review 2025 1,802.50

Page:  1



Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   448686
CAS 2025 - Contractural Administrative Support 2025
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 1/9/2025 2.00 105.0000 210.00
KCLBA meeting attendance

Total Rate Labor 210.00
Unit Rate Expenses
Account / Unit Quantity Rate Amount
Mileage
Mileage - Employee Vehicle 14.00 0.7300 10.22

Total Unit Rate Expenses 10.22
Total Bill Task: CAS 2025 - Contractural Administrative Support 2025 220.22

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 2,022.72

Page:  2



W.O. 2025-2

For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2025

Current Billings 285.25
Amount Due This Bill 285.25

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

PH I - Phase I ESA 3,000.00 3,000.00 218.25 0.00 218.25
Rate Labor 218.25

GPR - GPR Survey 2,100.00 2,100.00 67.00 0.00 67.00
Rate Labor 67.00

Contract : PH1ESA
Contract Name : Phase 1 ESA

Total Fee : 5,100.00
To Date Billings : 285.25
Total Remaining : 4,814.75

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 448692
Invoice Date : 2/14/2025

Project : 2500252
Project Name : KCBRA/Habitat for Humanity 

Cooper Twp
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 a ii



Project:   2500252 - KCBRA/Habitat for Humanity Cooper Twp Invoice:   448692
PH I - Phase I ESA
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Production Support

Ariane Savoy 1/31/2025 1.00 91.0000 91.00
project kick off

Senior Environmental Specialist
Joseph Beutler 1/31/2025 0.50 134.0000 67.00

site review, kickoff colin new project, discussion with Courtney
Senior Hydrogeologist

Courtney Dunaj 1/31/2025 0.25 150.0000 37.50
kickoff project

Staff Engineering Specialist
Eliott Buyce 1/31/2025 0.25 91.0000 22.75

phase i esa figures
Total Rate Labor 218.25

Total Bill Task: PH I - Phase I ESA 218.25

GPR - GPR Survey
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 1/27/2025 0.50 134.0000 67.00
project planning meeting

Total Rate Labor 67.00

Total Project:   2500252 - KCBRA/Habitat for Humanity Cooper Twp 285.25

Page:  1



Bill Term :BT2 is NOT part of MiDeal Contract

For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2025

Current Billings 4,534.50
Amount Due This Bill 4,534.50

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

VMS Install - VMS Installation 110,000.00 19,628.28 94,906.22 90,371.72 4,534.50
Rate Labor 4,534.50

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 448166
Invoice Date : 2/10/2025

Project : 231417
Project Name : KCBRA/YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. 

City of Parchment
Bill Term : BT2

Item 6 b i



Project:   231417 - KCBRA/YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. City of Parchment Invoice:   448166
VMS Install - VMS Installation
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Senior Geologist 4.00 134.0000 536.00
Senior Hydrogeologist 1.75 160.0000 280.00
Staff Geologist 33.50 111.0000 3,718.50

Total Rate Labor 4,534.50
Total Bill Task: VMS Install - VMS Installation 4,534.50

Total Project:   231417 - KCBRA/YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. City of Parchment 4,534.50

Page:  1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2025

Current Billings 5,916.87
Amount Due This Bill 5,916.87

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

PH I - Eligibility and Phase I ESA 3,000.00 267.19 2,732.81 2,732.81 0.00
PH 2 - Phase II 18,495.00 8,157.37 16,169.63 10,337.63 5,832.00

Laboratory
Expenses 5,832.00

BEA - BEA/Due Care 5,000.00 4,345.50 654.50 654.50 0.00
BF Plan - Brownfield Plan 8,000.00 6,926.21 1,158.66 1,073.79 84.87

Rate Labor 84.87

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 448689
Invoice Date : 2/14/2025

Project : 241171
Project Name : KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 

N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, 
Kalamazoo

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 c i 



Project:   241171 - KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, Kalamazoo Invoice:   448689
PH 2 - Phase II
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Merit Laboratories 5,832.00 1.00 5,832.00
Total Expenses 5,832.00

BF Plan - Brownfield Plan
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Senior Geologist 0.50 125.1862 62.59
Staff Environmental Specialist 0.25 89.1156 22.28

Total Rate Labor 84.87
Total Bill Task: BF Plan - Brownfield Plan 84.87

Total Project:   241171 - KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, Kalamazoo 5,916.87

Page:  1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 1/31/2025

Current Billings 1,094.28
Amount Due This Bill 1,094.28

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment 
Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

18,100.00 2,713.95 16,480.33 15,386.05 1,094.28

Rate Labor 1,094.28

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 448685
Invoice Date : 2/14/2025

Project : E210229
Project Name : KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant 

-W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 c ii



Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and Programmatic Invoice:   448685
COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 5.00 95.5000 477.50
Staff Engineer

Mahta Naziri Saeed 1.00 74.3000 74.30
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 3.25 74.3000 241.48
Olivia Selby-Tomaszewicz 3.50 86.0000 301.00

Total Staff Environmental Specialist 6.75 542.48
Total Rate Labor 1,094.28

Total Bill Task: COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic 1,094.28

Total Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

1,094.28

Page:  1



Site

Total TIR 

expected 2024 

or first year 

capture

% of 

Total TIR 

Available

Gen Admin. 

Expenses based 

on % of TIR 

Actual plan specific 

charges 2024 

(legal & 

contractual)

2024 Admin Costs 

spread across plans Notes

Midlink 964,600.18$        41.86% 47,139.95$               522.00$   47,661.95$                   

General Mills 144,018.23$        6.25% 7,038.16$                 ‐$   7,038.16$  

Schupan (Green Alum) 143,638.73$        6.23% 7,019.61$                 7,019.61$  

9008 Portage Road 8,060.44$             0.35% 393.91$ ‐$ 393.91$  

555 Eliza St. 65,391.67$          2.84% 3,195.69$                 ‐$   3,195.69$  

400 S. 14th St (Metal 

Mechanics) 5,796.11$             0.25% 283.26$   ‐$   283.26$  

Kartar #6 (Schoolcraft) ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

232 LLC 7,373.27$             0.32% 360.33$   ‐$   360.33$  

Blackbird Billiards  1,668.16$             0.07% 81.52$   ‐$   81.52$  

Kalamazoo West 

Professional Center 5,200.30$             0.23% 254.14$   ‐$   254.14$  

381/383 S. Pitcher 26,035.96$          1.13% 1,272.38$                 ‐$   1,272.38$  

Stadium Park Way 63,658.47$          2.76% 3,110.99$                 ‐$   3,110.99$  

Holiday Lanes (Delta 

Marriott) 61,110.24$          2.65% 2,986.45$                 ‐$   2,986.45$  

Vicksburg Mill ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  
notes: previous years fees $3,782 

from 2021 & 2022 admin

Parchment Mill ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Parchment 100 Island Ave ‐$   0.00% ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

GPI 476,676.18$        20.68% 23,295.13$               ‐$   23,295.13$                   

Scannell/ Project Spartan 112,391.78$        4.88% 5,492.58$                 ‐$   5,492.58$  

IPUSA 193,437.16$        8.39% 9,453.26$                 867.50$   10,320.76$                   

KALSEE Credit Union 25,493.91$          1.11% 1,245.89$                 ‐$   1,245.89$  

Landscape Forms, Inc. ‐$   0.00% ‐$   6,201.16$                   6,201.16$  

Total 2,304,550.79$     100.00% 112,623.24$           7,590.66$                 120,213.90$               

KCBRA 2024 General Administrative Expense Allocation ‐ DRAFT 2/21/2025

Item 6 d i



Pavilion Investors, LLC Project Fact Sheet 

Project Overview: The proposed redevelopment involves preparing the site for development to make way for 275 
new residential units available for sale. The 275 units include 160 single-family homes, 13 attached townhomes 
(51 residential units), and 64 Traditional Neighborhood Design (TDN) Homes (alley-loaded single-family homes 
without lot lines). The development includes affordable housing as a part of the development, including 6 
townhome units, 16 single-family homes, and 7 TDN homes for a total of 29 income-restricted units (10.5% of the 
development). The affordable for-sale housing is anticipated to be restricted to an average affordable sale price of 
80% of Area Median Income (“AMI”) and income-restricted to households at an average of 80% of AMI.  

Construction on the project is planned to begin in the spring of 2025 and will be completed by the summer of 
2034. The project anticipates the construction of approximately 32 units, including 18 single-family homes, per 
year for approximately 9 years.   

Parcels Included: 11-06-151-021 and 11-06-301-010. 

Property Qualifier: Housing Property 

Eligible Costs 

School and Local 

▪ Pre-Approved Activities: A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment is anticipated to cost $5,000.

▪ Infrastructure Improvements: is anticipated to include stormwater retention systems, sanitary sewer

main and water main construction and connections, sidewalk development, site lighting, roads,

landscaping, publicly owned utilities, parks and seating areas, private infrastructure, including driveways,

mailboxes, and parking areas, and associated soft costs including engineering and design. The total cost of

these infrastructure improvements is anticipated to be $15,023,024.

▪ Site Preparation: is anticipated to include grading, underground site preparation, site restoration, and

associated soft costs including engineering and design. The total cost of these site preparation activities is

anticipated to be $2,921,881.

▪ Contingency: A 15% contingency is included as an eligible activity. The contingency on infrastructure and

site preparation activities being sought for reimbursement is estimated to be $2,691,736.

▪ Financing Gap: The financing gap is calculated utilizing the Total Housing Subsidy formula developed by

MSHDA for for-sale residential units. The total cost of these site preparation activities is anticipated to be

$2,991,812.

▪ Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan Preparation: The total cost of these activities is anticipated to be

$30,000.

▪ Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan Implementation: The total cost of these activities is anticipated to

be $30,000.

Total: $23,693,453  
Limited to $13,902,260 or 15 years of capture 

Item 7 a i



Pavilion Investors, LLC Project Fact Sheet 
February 20, 2025  Fishbeck | Page 2 

 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\PAVILLION INVESTORS\COK_PAVILION INVESTORS LLC_ FACT SHEET_2025_0205.DOCX 

Estimated Outcomes: 
▪ 275 Residential Units Upon Completion 
▪ 29 Income-Qualified Residential Units Upon Completion  

i.e. 29 homes that are priced at a discount to allow households making 80% of the average income in 
Kalamazoo County, which for a 2-person household is up to $64,560. 

▪ $87M Total Investment 
 

▪ $444,013 Initial Taxable Value 
▪ $52,598,574 Future Taxable Value 
 
▪ 20 Years of Brownfield Plan Capture (15 for the Developer and 5 for the LBRF) 
▪ $2,048,668 Authority Administration Fees (10% Local-Only Estimation) 
▪ $13,902,260 Maximum Amount of Eligible Activities (Reimbursement Limited to 15 Years)  
▪ $6,324,831 Amount to be Deposited in Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 



Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\PAVILLION INVESTORS\ME_KCBRA_PAVILION BROWNFIELD PLAN REVIEW_2025_0220.DOCX

Memo 
TO: Macy Walters 

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Board 

FROM: Logan Mulholland 

DATE: February 20, 2025 PROJECT NO.: 230454 

SUBJECT: Review of Brownfield Plan for Pavilion Investors, LLC 

A Brownfield Plan has been proposed for two vacant parcels totaling 135.91 acres in Pavilion Township. The 
proposed redevelopment involves preparing the site for development to make way for 275 new residential units 
available for sale. The 275 units include 160 single-family homes, 13 attached townhomes (51 residential units), 
and 64 Traditional Neighborhood Design (TDN) Homes (alley-loaded single-family homes without lot lines). The 
development includes affordable housing as a part of the development, including 6 townhome units, 16 single-
family homes, and 7 TDN homes for a total of 29 income-restricted units (10.5% of the development). The 
affordable for-sale housing is anticipated to be restricted to an average affordable sale price of 80% of Area 
Median Income (“AMI”) and income-restricted to households at an average of 80% of AMI. The total capital 
investment on the project is expected to be approximately $87 million. Construction on the project is planned to 
begin in the spring of 2025 and will be completed by the summer of 2034. The project anticipates the 
construction of approximately 32 units, including 18 single-family homes, per year for approximately 9 years.   

Brownfield Plan 

Fishbeck has reviewed the draft Brownfield Plan, dated February 20, 2025. The plan includes all the required 
elements of a Brownfield Plan as detailed in Act 381 of 1996, the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act.  

Fishbeck has reviewed the plan, verified that the activities proposed are eligible, verified the tax capture and 
reimbursement schedule, verified the taxable values and ownership of the parcels, ensured the capture of school 
tax increment revenues was correct, and ensured the capture of administrative costs and Local Brownfield 
Revolving Fund revenues was included. 

Based on our review, we believe the Brownfield Plan is in suitable condition for consideration by the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority Board. 

Development and Reimbursement Agreement 

In addition to the draft Brownfield Plan, Fishbeck has reviewed the draft Development and Reimbursement 
Agreement and noted the following considerations that should be addressed: 

▪ The Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) requires that only the first buyer of income
qualified housing makes up to 120% of AMI. There is no requirement to maintain long-term affordability
for subsequent purchasers. This has led some communities to have concerns about the long term public
good and the possibility of first time buyers realizing large capital gains. Does the Kalamazoo County
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) want an affordability component after the first sale? Or
does the KCBRA only care that the first sale is income-qualified?

Item 7 a ii



Memo – Review of Brownfield Plan for Pavilion Investors, LLC 
February 20, 2025 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\PAVILLION INVESTORS\ME_KCBRA_PAVILION BROWNFIELD PLAN REVIEW_2025_0220.DOCX

▪ The statute requires site preparation as a housing development activity to include an income-qualified
purchaser household. The KCBRA may want to consider adding language to the agreement that states at
least one unit needs to qualify before reimbursing eligible site preparation activities.

▪ The Development and Reimbursement Agreement should detail the documentation requested to
income-qualify the purchaser’s household. For for-sale projects, the asking price for the unit type can be
compared to the documentation from the purchaser’s bank indicating what home price they qualify for to
determine the real financing gap which would be the reimbursable expense.

▪ We feel interim milestones need to be detailed within the Development and Reimbursement agreement.
Since this project has a 9-year buildout schedule, the KCBRA should not reimburse the financing gap
ahead of units being qualified, whether this is a set schedule ($X released per unit qualified), or
distribution of a portion of the tax increment revenues collected each year until all 29 units are verified as
income qualified.

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 269.544.6966 or 
lmulholland@fishbeck.com. 

Attachments 
By email 

mailto:lmulholland@fishbeck.com


ACT 381 BROWNFIELD PLAN

Pavilion Investors, LLC 

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021 

Kalamazoo County, Pavilion Township 

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

February 20, 2025 

Prepared by 
Michigan Growth Advisors 

100 W Michigan Avenue 

Suite #200 

Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

Approved by the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority on _________________________________ 

Approved by Pavilion Township Board of Trustees on _________________________________ 

Approved by the Kalamazoo County Commission on _____________________________________



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Proposed Redevelopment and Future Use for Each Eligible Property 

1.2 Identification of Housing Need 

1.3 Eligible Property Information 

2.0 INFORMATION REQUIRED BY SECTION 13(2) OF THE STATUTE 

2.1 Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

2.2 Summary of Eligible Activities 

2.3 Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 

2.4 Method of Financing and Description of Advances Made by the Municipality 

2.5 Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 

2.6 Duration of Brownfield Plan 

2.7 Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions 

2.8 Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 

Personal Property 

2.9 Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Individuals/Families 

2.10 Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 

2.11 Provisions for Relocation Costs 

2.12 Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law 

2.13 Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 

EXHIBITS 

FIGURES 

Figure 1 Legal Description and Map of the Eligible Property   

TABLES 

Table 1  Eligible Activities Costs  

Table 2  Tax Capture Schedule 

Table 3  Reimbursement Schedule 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A  Brownfield Plan Resolutions   

Attachment B  Reimbursement Agreement 

Attachment C  Site Plan 

Attachment D  Housing Study



ACT 381 BROWNFIELD PLAN  

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Proposed Redevelopment and Future Use for Each Eligible Property 

The proposed redevelopment consists of two vacant parcels totaling 135.91 acres in 

Pavilion Township. The project will involve preparing the site for development to 

make way for 275 new residential units available for sale. The 275 units include 160 

single family homes, 13 attached townhomes (51 residential units) and 64 TDN 

Homes (Traditional Neighborhood Design homes that are alley-loaded single family 

homes without lot lines). The development includes affordable housing as a part of 

the development, including 6 townhome units, 16 single-family homes, and 7 TDN 

homes for a total of 29 income-restricted units (10.5% of the development). The 

affordable for-sale housing is anticipated to be restricted to an average affordable 

sale prices of 80% of Area Median Income (“AMI”) and income restricted to 

households at an average of 80% of Area Median Income (“AMI”). The development 

will be accessed by the construction of a drive from East O Avenue along the 

neighboring residential development to the eligible property. The development will 

include landscape screening along the existing railroad that neighbors the property; 

preservation of existing wetlands, vegetation and streams on the property; 

dedicated stormwater management areas; a community open space with a 

playground and other amenities for residents; open space courtyards throughout 

the development; and roads connecting homes throughout the property. The 

townhomes are expected to be situated along the southern end of the property, the 

TDN homes are expected to be situated along the eastern side of the property, and 

the single-family homes are expected to be distributed throughout the balance of 

the property.  

The total capital investment on the project is expected to be approximately $87 

million. Construction on the project is planned to begin in the spring of 2025 and 

will be completed by summer of 2034. The project anticipates the construction of 

approximately 32 units, including 18 single family homes, per year for approximately 

9 years.  

1.2 Identification of Housing Need 

Specific Housing Need 

The Kalamazoo County Housing Plan prepared by the Upjohn Institute in 2022 

identified that the county required 7,750 new housing units in order to appropriately 

house the growth anticipated in the county. The report also indicated that 15,000 

households in the county are in homes that do not meet their budget, and many 

others are in types of housing that do not meet their needs. The Census Tract that 

this project is located in, Tract 33.02, grew by 1.9% over the preceding 5 years, 

however, the number of housing units in the Census Tract decreased by 5.2% over 

the same period. This indicates that the housing demand is particularly acute in this 



area of the county due to the drop in housing stock. Additionally, survey results from 

the Housing Plan indicate that the vast majority of residents prefer single family 

homes, however the current supply of single-family homes does not reflect the 

preference in the region. This project delivering 275 for-sale units with 29 income-

restricted units will allow a diverse household cohort to occupy this development, 

and the creation of single-family homes, townhomes, and Traditional Neighborhood 

Design homes will provide prospective buyers and families with diverse housing 

options.  

Job Growth Data  

Southwest Michigan First, the economic development organization serving the 7-

county region of Southwest Michigan, has announced 4,666 new jobs to the region 

between 2021 to 2023. This includes significant investment and job creation in 

Kalamazoo County and the City of Portage, including Pfizer Global Supply’s 2022 

announcement of a $870M expansion which is expected to create 550 jobs, and 

Midwest Fasteners, which announced a $10.4M expansion that will create and retain 

124 jobs in Portage. The project is also adjacent to the primary industrial corridor 

that is home to Stryker, Mann + Hummel, Summit Polymers and others who have 

experienced consistent job growth in recent years. The region is undergoing 

significant corporate investment that will require new employees in the region. 

Based on the specific housing need and job growth data in the area, the absorption 

of these new residential units is expected to be accelerated.  

1.3 Eligible Property Information

Basis of Eligibility 

Section 2(y)(i) of Public Act 381 of 1996 (”Act 381”), as amended, defines “Housing 

Property” as “A property on which 1 or more units of residential housing are 

proposed to be constructed, rehabilitated, or otherwise designated to be used as a 

dwelling.” The development proposes 275 housing units on Parcels 11-06-151-021 

and 11-06-301-010, thus these parcels are eligible property under Act 381.  

Location and Legal Description 

No Road Frontage   Parcel ID: 11-06-151-021  34.58 Acres 

Kalamazoo, MI 49048 

No Road Frontage  Parcel ID: 11-06-301-010  101.33 Acres 

Kalamazoo, MI 49048 

Legal Description: 
Part of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 and part of the Northwest Fractional 1/4 of Section 6, 

Town 3 South, Range 10 West, Pavilion Township, Kalamazoo County, Michigan, described as: 

Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Section; thence N00°30’53”E 1075.01 feet along 

the West line of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 of said Section to the Point of Beginning; thence 

N00°37’52”E 34.98 feet along the East line of the Northeast Fractional 1/4 of Section 1, T3S, 



R11W; thence N00°37’52”E 990.17 feet along said East line; thence N89°34’36”E 320.07 feet 

along the Easterly extension of the North line of the South 990 feet of the East 1/2 of the 

Northeast Fractional 1/4 of said Section 1; thence Southeasterly 242.18 feet along a 317.00 

foot radius curve to the left, said curve having a central angle of 43°46’21”, and a chord 

bearing S50°31’12”E 236.33 feet; thence Easterly 192.90 feet along a 617.00 foot radius curve 

to the left, said curve having a central angle of 17°54’49”, and a chord bearing S81°21’49”E 

192.12 feet; thence Southeasterly 439.45 feet along 233.00 foot radius curve to the right, said 

curve having a central angle of 108°03’43”, and a chord bearing S36°17’25”E 377.15 feet; 

thence S17°44’24”W 22.58 feet; thence S79°48’03”E 248.72 feet; thence N68°07’40”E 539.75 

feet; thence S30*22’19”E 2005.18 feet along the Southwesterly right-of-way of CK&S Railroad; 

thence S00°11’43”E 358.83 feet along the East line of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 of said 

Section 6; thence S89°48’17”W 2004.67 feet; thence Southwesterly 74.76 feet along a 967.00 

foot radius curve to the right, said curve having a central angle of 04°25’47”, and a chord 

bearing S13°58’34”W 74.74 feet; thence S16°11’28”W 112.20 feet; thence S89°48’17”W 641.17 

feet to the Point of Beginning. Contains 114.47 acres. Subject to easements, restrictions and 

rights-of-way of record.  

2.0 Information Required by Section 13(2) of the Statute

2.1 Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

Tax increment revenues will be used to reimburse Pavilion Investors, LLC (“Developer”) 

for the cost of eligible activities as authorized by Act 381. Michigan State Housing 

Development Authority (“MSHDA”) approved non-environmental eligible activities 

and statutorily approved EGLE environmental eligible activities will be reimbursed with 

local and school tax increment revenues (“TIR”).  The remaining eligible activities will 

be reimbursed with local TIR only.  

The total cost of eligible activities including contingency are anticipated to be 

$23,693,453. Reimbursement of eligible activities is anticipated to be limited to 15 

years. The reimbursement of eligible activities over 15 years is projected to be 

approximately $13,902,260. Funding to the State Brownfield Redevelopment Fund is 

anticipated to be $1,968,623. The estimated cost of all eligible activities under this plan 

are summarized in Table 1.    

Environmental Activities 

Department specific activities considered under this plan include a Phase I 

Environmental Site Assessment (“ESA”).   

Non-Environmental Activities 

Because the basis of property eligibility is “Housing Property” under Public Act 381, 

additional non-environmental costs can be reimbursed through a brownfield plan.  

This plan provides for reimbursement of eligible “housing development activities” 

including reimbursement provided to the developer to fill a financing gap associated 

with the development of housing units priced for income qualified households, and 

site preparation and infrastructure improvement activities that are necessary for new 

housing development for income qualified households on eligible property.  



2.2 Summary of Eligible Activities 

2.2..1 Phase I & Phase II ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan 

A Phase I ESA will be required for the project and is anticipated to cost $5,000.  

This is a cost statutorily approved for reimbursement with school taxes. 

2.2..2 Infrastructure 

Infrastructure activities will include the construction of a stormwater retention 

systems, sanitary sewer main and water main construction and connections, 

sidewalk development, site lighting, roads, landscaping, publicly-owned 

utilities, parks and seating areas, and private infrastructure, including 

driveways, mailboxes and parking areas. Engineering and design of these 

activities are also included as eligible activities. The total cost of these 

infrastructure improvement is anticipated to be $15,023,024.   

2.2..3 Site Preparation 

Site preparation activities will include grading, and underground site 

preparation and site restoration. Engineering and design of these activities 

are also included as eligible activities. The total cost of these site preparation 

activities is anticipated to be $2,921,881.  

2.2..4 Contingency  

A 15% contingency is included as an eligible activity. The contingency on 

infrastructure and site preparation activities being sought for reimbursement 

is estimated to be $2,691,736.  

2.2..5 Financing Gap  

Housing development activities, related to reimbursement provided to the 

developer to fill a financing gap associated with the development of housing 

units priced for income qualified households’ units, are included as eligible 

activities. The financing gap is calculated utilizing the Total Housing Subsidy 

formula developed by MSHDA for for-sale residential units. The maximum 

home price that is affordable for a 2-person household at 80% AMI in 

Kalamazoo County is anticipated to be $257,649.18. The maximum home 

price that is affordable for a 3-person household at 80% AMI in Kalamazoo 

County is anticipated to be $295,247.51. The maximum home price assumes 

a 30-year mortgage term with a 15% down payment, a rent to income ratio 

of 30%, monthly insurance, taxes, and PMI payment of $767, and a 

mortgage interest rate of 6.5%. Given these assumptions, the Total Housing 

Subsidy formula is delineated in the table below.   

Plan Type Person 

Household 

80% AMI 

Monthly 

Income 

Affordable 

Mortgage 

Payment 

Maximum 

Home 

Price 

Total 

Developer 

Cost 

Potential 

Sale Loss 

Income 

Qualified 

Units 

Total Gap 

Townhome 2-Person $5,380 $1,384 $257,649.18 $320,400 $62,750.82 6 $376,504.94 



Single 

Family 

3-Person $6,053 $1,586 $295,247.51 $435,800 $140,522.49 16 $2,248,839.81 

TDN Home 3-Person $6,053 $1,586 $295,247.51 $347,600 $52,352.49 7 $366,467.42

Total 29 $2,991,812.17

2.2..6 Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Preparation 

The cost to prepare the Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan is anticipated 

to be $30,000. 

2.2..7 Brownfield Plan Implementation 

The cost of implementing the Brownfield Plan is anticipated to be $30,000. 

2.2..8 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund capture is also included in this plan. Capture 

to the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund is anticipated to be $6,324,831.  

2.3 Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 

An estimate of the captured taxable value for this redevelopment by year is depicted 

in Table 2. This plan captures all available TIR, including real and personal property 

TIR.   

2.4 Method of Financing and Description of Advances Made by the Municipality 

The eligible activities will be financed by the developer and reimbursed as outlined 

in this plan and accompanying development agreement.  No advances from the 

Township or County are anticipated at this time.   

2.5 Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 

No note or bonded indebtedness for this project is anticipated at this time. Therefore, 

this section is not applicable. 

2.6 Duration of Brownfield Plan 

The duration of this plan is estimated to be 15 years, with an additional 5 years of 

capture to the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (“LBRF”).  It is estimated that the 

redevelopment of the property will be completed in 2034 and that full recapture of 

eligible costs to the Developer and eligible administrative costs of the authority, 

calculated at 10% of local tax capture, will continue until 2040. Capture of TIR is 

expected to begin in 2026, however could be delayed for up to 5 years after the 

approval of this plan as permitted by Act 381.  In no event shall capture extend 

beyond 30 year as required by Act 381.  An analysis showing the reimbursement 

schedule is attached as Table 3.   

2.7 Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing 

Jurisdictions 

An estimate of the impact of tax increment financing on the revenues of all taxing 

jurisdictions is illustrated in detail within Table 2. 



2.8 Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 

Personal Property 

The property consists of two parcels which are 135.91 acres in size with parcel 

identification numbers of 11-06-151-021 and 11-06-301-010.  A legal description of 

the properties along with a scaled map showing eligible property dimensions, is 

attached as Figure 1.  

The parcel is considered “eligible property” due to the development of residential 

housing units on the property, as defined within the definition of “Housing Property” 

in Section 2(y) of Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended.  

Taxable personal property, if any, is included in this plan.   

2.9 Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Individuals/Families 

No persons reside at the property therefore this section is not applicable. 

2.10 Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 

No persons reside at the property thus none will be displaced. Therefore, this section 

is not applicable.  

2.11 Provisions for Relocation Costs 

No persons reside at the property thus none will be displaced. Therefore, this section 

is not applicable.  

2.12 Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law 

No persons reside at the property thus none will be displaced. Therefore, this section 

is not applicable.  

2.13 Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 



Figure 1 

Legal Description and Eligible Property Map 



No Road Frontage Parcel ID: 11-06-151-021  34.58 Acres 

Kalamazoo, MI 49048 

No Road Frontage Parcel ID: 11-06-301-010  101.33 Acres 

Kalamazoo, MI 49048

Legal Description: 
Part of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 and part of the Northwest Fractional 1/4 of Section 6, Town 3 South, 

Range 10 West, Pavilion Township, Kalamazoo County, Michigan, described as: Commencing at the Southwest 

corner of said Section; thence N00°30’53”E 1075.01 feet along the West line of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 

of said Section to the Point of Beginning; thence N00°37’52”E 34.98 feet along the East line of the Northeast 

Fractional 1/4 of Section 1, T3S, R11W; thence N00°37’52”E 990.17 feet along said East line; thence N89°34’36”E 

320.07 feet along the Easterly extension of the North line of the South 990 feet of the East 1/2 of the Northeast 

Fractional 1/4 of said Section 1; thence Southeasterly 242.18 feet along a 317.00 foot radius curve to the left, 

said curve having a central angle of 43°46’21”, and a chord bearing S50°31’12”E 236.33 feet; thence Easterly 

192.90 feet along a 617.00 foot radius curve to the left, said curve having a central angle of 17°54’49”, and a 

chord bearing S81°21’49”E 192.12 feet; thence Southeasterly 439.45 feet along 233.00 foot radius curve to the 

right, said curve having a central angle of 108°03’43”, and a chord bearing S36°17’25”E 377.15 feet; thence 

S17°44’24”W 22.58 feet; thence S79°48’03”E 248.72 feet; thence N68°07’40”E 539.75 feet; thence S30*22’19”E 

2005.18 feet along the Southwesterly right-of-way of CK&S Railroad; thence S00°11’43”E 358.83 feet along 

the East line of the Southwest Fractional 1/4 of said Section 6; thence S89°48’17”W 2004.67 feet; thence 

Southwesterly 74.76 feet along a 967.00 foot radius curve to the right, said curve having a central angle of 

04°25’47”, and a chord bearing S13°58’34”W 74.74 feet; thence S16°11’28”W 112.20 feet; thence S89°48’17”W 

641.17 feet to the Point of Beginning. Contains 114.47 acres. Subject to easements, restrictions and rights-of-

way of record.  



Table 1 

Eligible Activity Costs 



Eligible Activities Table

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Completion

Season/Year

Department Specific Activities Sub-Total  $                         5,000 Winter 2025

Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  $                         5,000 

EGLE Eligible Activities Sub-Total  $                         5,000 

Completion

Season/Year

Infrastructure Improvements Sub-Total  $               15,023,024 Spring 2025

Roads, Curbs and gutters  $                 1,878,275 

Landscaping  $                     250,000 

Lighting  $                       37,566 

Sanitary Sewer Mains  $                 1,652,620 

Alleys and Parking  $                     823,200 

Driveways  $                 1,577,800 

Mailboxes  $                       35,000 

Sidewalks  $                 1,234,295 

Storm water systems  $                 1,448,955 

Water Mains  $                 1,609,950 

Water and Sewer Connections  $                 2,790,000 

Publicly-owned utilities  $                     311,257 

Park and seating areas  $                     250,000 

      Soft Costs Associated with the Above  $                 1,124,106 

Site Preparation Sub-Total  $                 2,921,881 Spring 2025

      Geotechnical Engineering  $                       20,000 

      Grading  $                 1,878,275 

      Underground site preparation and site restoration  $                     804,975 

      Soft Costs Associated with the Above  $                     218,631 

Affordable Housing Financing Gap  $                 2,991,812 

Brownfield Plan/Act 381 Work Plan  $                       30,000 

Brownfield Plan Implementation  $                       30,000 

MSHDA Eligible Activities Sub-Total  $               20,996,717 

Contingency (15%)  $                 2,691,736 

Interest (0%)  $                                -   

Total Brownfield Eligible Activities  $               23,693,453 

EGLE Eligible Activities Costs and Schedule

EGLE Eligible Activities Cost

MSDHA Housing Development Activities Costs and Schedule

MSHDA Eligible Activities Cost



Table 2 

Tax Capture Schedule



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Single Family Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

*Base Taxable Value 112,344$       112,344$       112,344$       112,344$            112,344$         112,344$           112,344$           112,344$           112,344$           112,344$         

Estimated New TV 4,034,544$    8,037,435$    12,120,383$  16,284,991$       20,532,891$    24,865,749$      29,285,263$      31,178,369$      31,801,936$      32,437,975$    

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 3,922,200$      7,925,091$      12,008,040$    16,172,647$         20,420,547$      24,753,405$        29,172,920$        31,066,025$        31,689,592$        32,325,631$      

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 23,533$         47,551$          72,048$          97,036$              122,523$         148,520$           175,038$           186,396$           190,138$           193,954$         

School Operating Tax 17.5695 -$                -$                -$                -$                    -$                 -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                 

School Total 23.5695 23,533$           47,551$            72,048$            97,036$                 122,523$           148,520$             175,038$             186,396$             190,138$             193,954$           

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 18,121$         36,616$          55,480$          74,721$              94,347$           114,366$           134,785$           143,531$           146,412$           149,351$         

County Public Safety 1.4344 5,626$           11,368$          17,224$          23,198$              29,291$           35,506$             41,846$             44,561$             45,456$             46,368$           

County Housing 0.7434 2,916$           5,892$            8,927$            12,023$              15,181$           18,402$             21,687$             23,094$             23,558$             24,031$           

County Seniors 0.3462 1,358$           2,744$            4,157$            5,599$                7,070$             8,570$               10,100$             10,755$             10,971$             11,191$           

Portage Sinking 0.4983 1,954$           3,949$            5,984$            8,059$                10,176$           12,335$             14,537$             15,480$             15,791$             16,108$           

County 911 0.6442 2,527$           5,105$            7,736$            10,418$              13,155$           15,946$             18,793$             20,013$             20,414$             20,824$           

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 391$               790$               1,197$            1,612$                2,036$             2,468$               2,909$               3,097$               3,159$               3,223$             

KRESA ISD 6.9785 27,371$         55,305$          83,798$          112,861$            142,505$         172,742$           203,583$           216,794$           221,146$           225,584$         

KVCC College 2.7729 10,876$         21,975$          33,297$          44,845$              56,624$           68,639$             80,894$             86,143$             87,872$             89,636$           

Township Operating 0.8115 3,183$           6,431$            9,745$            13,124$              16,571$           20,087$             23,674$             25,210$             25,716$             26,232$           

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 5,761$           11,641$          17,639$          23,756$              29,996$           36,360$             42,852$             45,633$             46,549$             47,483$           

Portage Library 1.9922 7,814$           15,788$          23,922$          32,219$              40,682$           49,314$             58,118$             61,890$             63,132$             64,399$           

County Transportation 0.3102 1,217$           2,458$            3,725$            5,017$                6,334$             7,679$               9,049$               9,637$               9,830$               10,027$           

22.7206 89,115$           180,063$         272,830$         367,452$              463,967$           562,412$             662,826$             705,839$             720,007$             734,458$           

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Portage Debt 6.8500 26,867$         54,287$          82,255$          110,783$            139,881$         169,561$           199,835$           212,802$           217,074$           221,431$         

County Juvenile 0.1176 461$               932$               1,412$            1,902$                2,401$             2,911$               3,431$               3,653$               3,727$               3,801$             

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 6.9676 27,328$           55,219$            83,667$            112,685$              142,282$           172,472$             203,265$             216,456$             220,800$             225,232$           

53.2577

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 112,648$         227,613$          344,878$          464,488$               586,490$           710,933$              837,864$              892,235$              910,144$              928,412$           

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 217,900$               

Percentage of Homestead units 100%

New  Units Constructed (Portage) 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 6 0 0



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Single Family Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

 

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        -$                     

33,086,734$    33,748,469$    34,423,438$    35,111,907$    35,814,145$    36,530,428$   37,261,037$   38,006,258$   38,766,383$   39,541,710$   -$                     

32,974,391$      33,636,125$      34,311,095$      34,999,564$      35,701,802$      36,418,085$     37,148,693$     37,893,914$     38,654,039$     39,429,367$     -$                     

197,846$         201,817$         205,867$         209,997$         214,211$         218,509$        222,892$        227,363$        231,924$        236,576$        3,423,739$     

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

197,846$           201,817$           205,867$           209,997$           214,211$           218,509$          222,892$          227,363$          231,924$          236,576$          3,423,739$     

152,348$         155,406$         158,524$         161,705$         164,949$         168,259$        171,634$        175,077$        178,589$        182,172$        2,636,393$     

47,298$           48,248$           49,216$           50,203$           51,211$           52,238$           53,286$           54,355$           55,445$           56,557$           818,502$        

24,513$           25,005$           25,507$           26,019$           26,541$           27,073$           27,616$           28,170$           28,735$           29,312$           424,201$        

11,416$           11,645$           11,879$           12,117$           12,360$           12,608$           12,861$           13,119$           13,382$           13,650$           197,550$        

16,431$           16,761$           17,097$           17,440$           17,790$           18,147$           18,511$           18,883$           19,261$           19,648$           284,342$        

21,242$           21,668$           22,103$           22,547$           22,999$           23,461$           23,931$           24,411$           24,901$           25,400$           367,595$        

3,288$             3,354$             3,421$             3,489$             3,559$             3,631$             3,704$             3,778$             3,854$             3,931$             56,891$           

230,112$         234,730$         239,440$         244,244$         249,145$         254,144$        259,242$        264,443$        269,747$        275,158$        3,982,094$     

91,435$           93,270$           95,141$           97,050$           98,998$           100,984$        103,010$        105,076$        107,184$        109,334$        1,582,281$     

26,759$           27,296$           27,843$           28,402$           28,972$           29,553$           30,146$           30,751$           31,368$           31,997$           463,061$        

48,436$           49,408$           50,400$           51,411$           52,442$           53,495$           54,568$           55,662$           56,779$           57,918$           838,188$        

65,692$           67,010$           68,355$           69,726$           71,125$           72,552$           74,008$           75,492$           77,007$           78,551$           1,136,795$     

10,229$           10,434$           10,643$           10,857$           11,075$           11,297$           11,524$           11,755$           11,990$           12,231$           177,007$        

749,198$           764,233$           779,569$           795,211$           811,166$           827,441$          844,041$          860,972$          878,243$          895,859$          12,964,901$   

225,875$         230,407$         235,031$         239,747$         244,557$         249,464$        254,469$        259,573$        264,780$        270,091$        3,908,769$     

3,878$             3,956$             4,035$             4,116$             4,199$             4,283$             4,369$             4,456$             4,546$             4,637$             67,105$           

229,752$           234,363$           239,066$           243,863$           248,756$           253,747$          258,837$          264,030$          269,326$          274,728$          3,975,874$     

947,044$           966,050$           985,435$           1,005,208$        1,025,377$        1,045,949$       1,066,933$       1,088,336$       1,110,167$       1,132,435$       16,388,640$   

132

0



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Townhome Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

*Base Taxable Value 112,344$       112,344$        112,344$     112,344$     112,344$         112,344$     112,344$     112,344$     112,344$     112,344$     112,344$     

Estimated New TV 504,591$       904,682$        1,312,776$  1,729,032$  2,153,612$      2,586,684$  3,028,418$  3,478,986$  3,743,566$  3,818,437$  3,894,806$  

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 392,247$         792,339$          1,200,432$    1,616,688$    2,041,268$        2,474,341$    2,916,074$    3,366,643$    3,631,223$    3,706,094$    3,782,463$    

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 2,353$            4,754$            7,203$          9,700$          12,248$           14,846$        17,496$        20,200$        21,787$        22,237$        22,695$        

School Operating Tax 17.5695 -$                -$                -$              -$              -$                  -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

School Total 23.5695 2,353$              4,754$              7,203$            9,700$            12,248$              14,846$          17,496$          20,200$          21,787$          22,237$          22,695$          

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 1,812$            3,661$            5,546$          7,469$          9,431$              11,432$        13,473$        15,555$        16,777$        17,123$        17,476$        

County Public Safety 1.4344 563$               1,137$            1,722$          2,319$          2,928$              3,549$          4,183$          4,829$          5,209$          5,316$          5,426$          

County Housing 0.7434 292$               589$               892$             1,202$          1,517$              1,839$          2,168$          2,503$          2,699$          2,755$          2,812$          

County Seniors 0.3462 136$               274$               416$             560$             707$                 857$             1,010$          1,166$          1,257$          1,283$          1,309$          

Portage Sinking 0.4983 195$               395$               598$             806$             1,017$              1,233$          1,453$          1,678$          1,809$          1,847$          1,885$          

County 911 0.6442 253$               510$               773$             1,041$          1,315$              1,594$          1,879$          2,169$          2,339$          2,387$          2,437$          

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 39$                 79$                  120$             161$             204$                 247$             291$             336$             362$             369$             377$             

KRESA ISD 6.9785 2,737$            5,529$            8,377$          11,282$        14,245$           17,267$        20,350$        23,494$        25,340$        25,863$        26,396$        

KVCC College 2.7729 1,088$            2,197$            3,329$          4,483$          5,660$              6,861$          8,086$          9,335$          10,069$        10,277$        10,488$        

Township Operating 0.8115 318$               643$               974$             1,312$          1,656$              2,008$          2,366$          2,732$          2,947$          3,007$          3,069$          

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 576$               1,164$            1,763$          2,375$          2,998$              3,635$          4,283$          4,945$          5,334$          5,444$          5,556$          

Portage Library 1.9922 781$               1,578$            2,392$          3,221$          4,067$              4,929$          5,809$          6,707$          7,234$          7,383$          7,535$          

County Transportation 0.3102 122$               246$               372$             501$             633$                 768$             905$             1,044$          1,126$          1,150$          1,173$          

22.7206 8,912$              18,002$            27,275$          36,732$          46,379$              56,219$          66,255$          76,492$          82,504$          84,205$          85,940$          

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Portage Debt 6.8500 2,687$            5,428$            8,223$          11,074$        13,983$           16,949$        19,975$        23,062$        24,874$        25,387$        25,910$        

County Juvenile 0.1176 46$                 93$                  141$             190$             240$                 291$             343$             396$             427$             436$             445$             

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 6.9676 2,733$              5,521$              8,364$            11,264$          14,223$              17,240$          20,318$          23,457$          25,301$          25,823$          26,355$          

53.2577

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 11,266$            22,756$            34,477$          46,432$          58,626$              71,065$          83,751$          96,692$          104,291$        106,441$        108,635$        

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 65,000$                 

Percentage of Homestead units 100%

New  Units Constructed 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 3 0 51



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Townhome Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         -$                      

3,972,702$      4,052,156$      4,133,200$      4,215,864$      4,300,181$     4,386,184$     4,473,908$     4,563,386$     4,654,654$     -$                      

3,860,359$        3,939,813$        4,020,856$        4,103,520$        4,187,837$       4,273,841$       4,361,564$       4,451,043$       4,542,310$       -$                      

23,162$           23,639$           24,125$           24,621$           25,127$           25,643$           26,169$           26,706$           27,254$           381,966$         

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

23,162$              23,639$              24,125$              24,621$              25,127$             25,643$             26,169$             26,706$             27,254$             381,966$        

17,836$           18,203$           18,577$           18,959$           19,349$           19,746$           20,151$           20,565$           20,986$           294,126$         

5,537$              5,651$              5,768$              5,886$              6,007$             6,130$             6,256$             6,385$             6,515$             91,315$           

2,870$              2,929$              2,989$              3,051$              3,113$             3,177$             3,242$             3,309$             3,377$             47,326$           

1,336$              1,364$              1,392$              1,421$              1,450$             1,480$             1,510$             1,541$             1,573$             22,039$           

1,924$              1,963$              2,004$              2,045$              2,087$             2,130$             2,173$             2,218$             2,263$             31,722$           

2,487$              2,538$              2,590$              2,643$              2,698$             2,753$             2,810$             2,867$             2,926$             41,010$           

385$                 393$                 401$                 409$                 418$                426$                435$                444$                453$                6,347$             

26,940$           27,494$           28,060$           28,636$           29,225$           29,825$           30,437$           31,062$           31,699$           444,258$         

10,704$           10,925$           11,149$           11,379$           11,612$           11,851$           12,094$           12,342$           12,595$           176,525$         

3,133$              3,197$              3,263$              3,330$              3,398$             3,468$             3,539$             3,612$             3,686$             51,661$           

5,670$              5,787$              5,906$              6,028$              6,152$             6,278$             6,407$             6,538$             6,672$             93,512$           

7,691$              7,849$              8,010$              8,175$              8,343$             8,514$             8,689$             8,867$             9,049$             126,825$         

1,197$              1,222$              1,247$              1,273$              1,299$             1,326$             1,353$             1,381$             1,409$             19,748$           

87,710$              89,515$              91,356$              93,234$              95,150$             97,104$             99,097$             101,130$           103,204$           1,446,415$     

26,443$           26,988$           27,543$           28,109$           28,687$           29,276$           29,877$           30,490$           31,115$           436,078$         

454$                 463$                 473$                 483$                 492$                503$                513$                523$                534$                7,487$             

26,897$              27,451$              28,016$              28,592$              29,179$             29,778$             30,390$             31,013$             31,649$             443,564$        

110,872$            113,154$            115,481$            117,856$            120,277$           122,747$           125,267$           127,837$           130,458$           1,828,381$     



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

*Base Taxable Value 112,344$       112,344$        112,344$     112,344$     112,344$         112,344$     112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        112,344$        

Estimated New TV 1,331,191$    2,574,414$    3,842,503$  5,135,953$  6,455,272$      7,800,977$  9,173,597$    9,357,069$    9,544,210$    9,735,094$    9,929,796$    

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 1,218,847$      2,462,071$      3,730,159$    5,023,609$    6,342,928$        7,688,634$    9,061,253$      9,244,725$      9,431,866$      9,622,751$      9,817,452$      

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 7,313$            14,772$          22,381$        30,142$        38,058$           46,132$        54,368$          55,468$          56,591$          57,737$          58,905$          

School Operating Tax 17.5695 -$                -$                -$              -$              -$                  -$              -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

School Total 23.5695 7,313$              14,772$            22,381$          30,142$          38,058$              46,132$          54,368$            55,468$            56,591$            57,737$            58,905$            

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 5,631$            11,375$          17,234$        23,210$        29,306$           35,523$        41,865$          42,712$          43,577$          44,459$          45,359$          

County Public Safety 1.4344 1,748$            3,532$            5,351$          7,206$          9,098$              11,029$        12,997$          13,261$          13,529$          13,803$          14,082$          

County Housing 0.7434 906$               1,830$            2,773$          3,735$          4,715$              5,716$          6,736$            6,873$            7,012$            7,154$            7,298$            

County Seniors 0.3462 422$               852$               1,291$          1,739$          2,196$              2,662$          3,137$            3,201$            3,265$            3,331$            3,399$            

Portage Sinking 0.4983 607$               1,227$            1,859$          2,503$          3,161$              3,831$          4,515$            4,607$            4,700$            4,795$            4,892$            

County 911 0.6442 785$               1,586$            2,403$          3,236$          4,086$              4,953$          5,837$            5,955$            6,076$            6,199$            6,324$            

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 122$               245$               372$             501$             632$                 767$             903$               922$               940$               959$               979$               

KRESA ISD 6.9785 8,506$            17,182$          26,031$        35,057$        44,264$           53,655$        63,234$          64,514$          65,820$          67,152$          68,511$          

KVCC College 2.7729 3,380$            6,827$            10,343$        13,930$        17,588$           21,320$        25,126$          25,635$          26,154$          26,683$          27,223$          

Township Operating 0.8115 989$               1,998$            3,027$          4,077$          5,147$              6,239$          7,353$            7,502$            7,654$            7,809$            7,967$            

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 1,790$            3,617$            5,479$          7,379$          9,317$              11,294$        13,310$          13,580$          13,854$          14,135$          14,421$          

Portage Library 1.9922 2,428$            4,905$            7,431$          10,008$        12,636$           15,317$        18,052$          18,417$          18,790$          19,170$          19,558$          

County Transportation 0.3102 378$               764$               1,157$          1,558$          1,968$              2,385$          2,811$            2,868$            2,926$            2,985$            3,045$            

22.7206 27,693$            55,940$            84,751$          114,139$       144,115$           174,690$       205,877$          210,046$          214,298$          218,635$          223,058$          

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Portage Debt 6.8500 8,349$            16,865$          25,552$        34,412$        43,449$           52,667$        62,070$          63,326$          64,608$          65,916$          67,250$          

County Juvenile 0.1176 143$               290$               439$             591$             746$                 904$             1,066$            1,087$            1,109$            1,132$            1,155$            

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 6.9676 8,492$              17,155$            25,990$          35,002$          44,195$              53,571$          63,135$            64,414$            65,717$            67,047$            68,404$            

53.2577

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 35,006$            70,712$            107,132$        144,281$        182,173$            220,822$        260,245$          265,514$          270,889$          276,371$          281,963$          

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 152,075$               

Percentage of Homestead units 100%

New  Units Constructed 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 0 0 0 56



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         112,344$         -$                      

10,128,392$    10,330,960$    10,537,579$    10,748,331$    10,963,297$   11,182,563$   11,406,214$   11,634,339$   11,867,026$   -$                      

10,016,048$      10,218,616$      10,425,235$      10,635,987$      10,850,954$     11,070,220$     11,293,871$     11,521,995$     11,754,682$     -$                      

60,096$           61,312$           62,551$           63,816$           65,106$           66,421$           67,763$           69,132$           70,528$           1,028,591$     

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

60,096$              61,312$              62,551$              63,816$              65,106$             66,421$             67,763$             69,132$             70,528$             1,028,591$     

46,276$           47,212$           48,167$           49,140$           50,134$           51,147$           52,180$           53,234$           54,309$           792,050$         

14,367$           14,658$           14,954$           15,256$           15,565$           15,879$           16,200$           16,527$           16,861$           245,902$         

7,446$              7,597$              7,750$              7,907$              8,067$             8,230$             8,396$             8,565$             8,738$             127,442$         

3,468$              3,538$              3,609$              3,682$              3,757$             3,833$             3,910$             3,989$             4,069$             59,350$           

4,991$              5,092$              5,195$              5,300$              5,407$             5,516$             5,628$             5,741$             5,857$             85,425$           

6,452$              6,583$              6,716$              6,852$              6,990$             7,131$             7,276$             7,422$             7,572$             110,436$         

999$                 1,019$              1,039$              1,060$              1,082$             1,104$             1,126$             1,149$             1,172$             17,092$           

69,897$           71,311$           72,753$           74,223$           75,723$           77,254$           78,814$           80,406$           82,030$           1,196,338$     

27,774$           28,335$           28,908$           29,493$           30,089$           30,697$           31,317$           31,949$           32,595$           475,364$         

8,128$              8,292$              8,460$              8,631$              8,806$             8,983$             9,165$             9,350$             9,539$             139,117$         

14,713$           15,010$           15,314$           15,623$           15,939$           16,261$           16,590$           16,925$           17,266$           251,816$         

19,954$           20,358$           20,769$           21,189$           21,617$           22,054$           22,500$           22,954$           23,418$           341,527$         

3,107$              3,170$              3,234$              3,299$              3,366$             3,434$             3,503$             3,574$             3,646$             53,178$           

227,571$           232,173$           236,868$           241,656$           246,540$           251,522$           256,604$           261,787$           267,073$           3,895,036$     

68,610$           69,998$           71,413$           72,857$           74,329$           75,831$           77,363$           78,926$           80,520$           1,174,309$     

1,178$              1,202$              1,226$              1,251$              1,276$             1,302$             1,328$             1,355$             1,382$             20,160$           

69,788$              71,199$              72,639$              74,107$              75,605$             77,133$             78,691$             80,281$             81,902$             1,194,469$     

287,667$            293,485$            299,419$            305,472$            311,646$           317,943$           324,367$           330,919$           337,602$           4,923,627$     



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Single Family Capture - Comstock Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

*Base Taxable Value 53,491$         53,491$          53,491$          53,491$               53,491$           53,491$              53,491$              53,491$              53,491$              53,491$           

Estimated New TV 53,491$         54,561$          55,652$          56,765$               57,900$           59,058$              60,240$              2,676,244$        6,216,169$        6,340,493$      

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) -$                  1,070$              2,161$              3,274$                   4,409$                5,567$                  6,749$                  2,622,753$          6,162,678$          6,287,002$        

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 -$                6$                    13$                  20$                      26$                   33$                     40$                     15,737$              36,976$              37,722$           

School Operating Tax 17.8437 -$                -$                -$                -$                     -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                  

School Total 23.8437 -$                  6$                      13$                    20$                         26$                      33$                        40$                        15,737$                36,976$                37,722$              

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 -$                5$                    10$                  15$                      20$                   26$                     31$                     12,118$              28,473$              29,047$           

County Public Safety 1.4344 -$                2$                    3$                    5$                         6$                     8$                        10$                     3,762$                8,840$                9,018$              

County Housing 0.7434 -$                1$                    2$                    2$                         3$                     4$                        5$                        1,950$                4,581$                4,674$              

County Seniors 0.3462 -$                0$                    1$                    1$                         2$                     2$                        2$                        908$                   2,134$                2,177$              

Sinking Fund 0.9958 -$                1$                    2$                    3$                         4$                     6$                        7$                        2,612$                6,137$                6,261$              

County 911 0.6442 -$                1$                    1$                    2$                         3$                     4$                        4$                        1,690$                3,970$                4,050$              

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 -$                0$                    0$                    0$                         0$                     1$                        1$                        261$                   614$                   627$                 

KRESA ISD 6.9785 -$                7$                    15$                  23$                      31$                   39$                     47$                     18,303$              43,006$              43,874$           

KVCC College 2.7729 -$                3$                    6$                    9$                         12$                   15$                     19$                     7,273$                17,088$              17,433$           

Township Operating 0.8115 -$                1$                    2$                    3$                         4$                     5$                        5$                        2,128$                5,001$                5,102$              

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 -$                2$                    3$                    5$                         6$                     8$                        10$                     3,853$                9,052$                9,235$              

County Transportation 0.3102 -$                0$                    1$                    1$                         1$                     2$                        2$                        814$                   1,912$                1,950$              

21.2259 -$                  23$                    46$                    69$                         94$                      118$                      143$                      55,670$                130,808$              133,447$           

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Comstock Debt 5.5000 -$                6$                    12$                  18$                      24$                   31$                     37$                     14,425$              33,895$              34,579$           

County Juvenile 0.1176 -$                0$                    0$                    0$                         1$                     1$                        1$                        308$                   725$                   739$                 

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 5.6176 -$                  6$                      12$                    18$                         25$                      31$                        38$                        14,734$                34,619$                35,318$              

50.6872

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture -$                       29$                    59$                    89$                         120$                   152$                      184$                      71,407$                167,784$              171,169$            

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 217,900$               

Percentage of Homestead units 100%

New Units Constructed (Pavilion) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 16 0



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Single Family Capture - Comstock Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

 

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           -$                      

6,467,302$      6,596,649$      6,728,581$      6,863,153$      7,000,416$      7,140,425$     7,283,233$     7,428,898$     7,577,476$     7,729,025$     -$                      

6,413,811$        6,543,158$        6,675,090$        6,809,662$        6,946,925$        7,086,934$       7,229,742$       7,375,407$       7,523,985$       7,675,534$       -$                      

38,483$           39,259$           40,051$           40,858$           41,682$           42,522$           43,378$           44,252$           45,144$           46,053$           512,255$         

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

38,483$              39,259$              40,051$              40,858$              41,682$              42,522$             43,378$             44,252$             45,144$             46,053$             512,255$        

29,633$           30,231$           30,840$           31,462$           32,096$           32,743$           33,403$           34,076$           34,762$           35,463$           394,454$         

9,200$              9,386$              9,575$              9,768$              9,965$              10,165$           10,370$           10,579$           10,792$           11,010$           122,463$         

4,768$              4,864$              4,962$              5,062$              5,164$              5,268$             5,375$             5,483$             5,593$             5,706$             63,468$           

2,220$              2,265$              2,311$              2,358$              2,405$              2,453$             2,503$             2,553$             2,605$             2,657$             29,557$           

6,387$              6,516$              6,647$              6,781$              6,918$              7,057$             7,199$             7,344$             7,492$             7,643$             85,017$           

4,132$              4,215$              4,300$              4,387$              4,475$              4,565$             4,657$             4,751$             4,847$             4,945$             54,999$           

639$                 652$                 666$                 679$                 693$                 707$                721$                735$                750$                765$                8,512$             

44,759$           45,661$           46,582$           47,521$           48,479$           49,456$           50,453$           51,469$           52,506$           53,564$           595,796$         

17,785$           18,144$           18,509$           18,883$           19,263$           19,651$           20,047$           20,451$           20,863$           21,283$           236,739$         

5,205$              5,310$              5,417$              5,526$              5,637$              5,751$             5,867$             5,985$             6,106$             6,229$             69,283$           

9,421$              9,611$              9,805$              10,003$           10,204$           10,410$           10,620$           10,834$           11,052$           11,275$           125,409$         

1,990$              2,030$              2,071$              2,112$              2,155$              2,198$             2,243$             2,288$             2,334$             2,381$             26,484$           

136,139$           138,884$           141,685$           144,541$           147,455$           150,427$           153,458$           156,550$           159,703$           162,920$           1,812,181$     

35,276$           35,987$           36,713$           37,453$           38,208$           38,978$           39,764$           40,565$           41,382$           42,215$           469,568$         

754$                 769$                 785$                 801$                 817$                 833$                850$                867$                885$                903$                10,040$           

36,030$              36,757$              37,498$              38,254$              39,025$              39,812$             40,614$             41,432$             42,267$             43,118$             479,608$        

174,622$            178,143$            181,735$            185,399$            189,136$            192,948$           196,836$           200,802$           204,847$           208,973$           2,324,436$     

0

28



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

*Base Taxable Value 53,491$          53,491$          53,491$        53,491$        53,491$            53,491$        53,491$          53,491$          53,491$          53,491$          

Estimated New TV 54,561$          55,652$          56,765$        57,900$        59,058$            60,240$        61,444$          670,973$        1,292,693$    1,318,547$    

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 1,070$               2,161$               3,274$             4,409$             5,567$                 6,749$             7,953$               617,482$           1,239,202$       1,265,056$       

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 6$                    13$                  20$                26$                33$                    40$                48$                  3,705$             7,435$             7,590$             

School Operating Tax 17.8437 -$                 -$                 -$               -$               -$                   -$               -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

School Total 23.8437 6$                       13$                     20$                  26$                  33$                       40$                  48$                     3,705$               7,435$               7,590$               

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 5$                    10$                  15$                20$                26$                    31$                37$                  2,853$             5,725$             5,845$             

County Public Safety 1.4344 2$                    3$                     5$                  6$                  8$                      10$                11$                  886$                1,778$             1,815$             

County Housing 0.7434 1$                    2$                     2$                  3$                  4$                      5$                  6$                     459$                921$                940$                

County Seniors 0.3462 0$                    1$                     1$                  2$                  2$                      2$                  3$                     214$                429$                438$                

Sinking Fund 0.9958 1$                    2$                     3$                  4$                  6$                      7$                  8$                     615$                1,234$             1,260$             

County 911 0.6442 1$                    1$                     2$                  3$                  4$                      4$                  5$                     398$                798$                815$                

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 0$                    0$                     0$                  0$                  1$                      1$                  1$                     62$                  124$                126$                

KRESA ISD 6.9785 7$                    15$                  23$                31$                39$                    47$                56$                  4,309$             8,648$             8,828$             

KVCC College 2.7729 3$                    6$                     9$                  12$                15$                    19$                22$                  1,712$             3,436$             3,508$             

Township Operating 0.8115 1$                    2$                     3$                  4$                  5$                      5$                  6$                     501$                1,006$             1,027$             

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 2$                    3$                     5$                  6$                  8$                      10$                12$                  907$                1,820$             1,858$             

County Transportation 0.3102 0$                    1$                     1$                  1$                  2$                      2$                  2$                     192$                384$                392$                

21.2259 23$                     46$                     69$                  94$                  118$                    143$                169$                   13,107$             26,303$             26,852$             

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Comstock Debt 5.5000 6$                    12$                  18$                24$                31$                    37$                44$                  3,396$             6,816$             6,958$             

County Juvenile 0.1176 0$                    0$                     0$                  1$                  1$                      1$                  1$                     73$                  146$                149$                

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 5.6176 6$                       12$                     18$                  25$                  31$                       38$                  45$                     3,469$               6,961$               7,107$               

50.6872

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 29$                     59$                     89$                   120$                152$                     184$                217$                   16,812$             33,738$             34,442$             

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 152,075$                

Percentage of Homestead units 100%

New  Units Constructed 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Portage Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

 

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

53,491$          53,491$            53,491$            53,491$            53,491$            53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           -$                       

1,344,917$    1,371,816$      1,399,252$      1,427,237$      1,455,782$      1,484,898$     1,514,596$     1,544,887$     1,575,785$     1,607,301$     -$                       

1,291,426$       1,318,325$         1,345,761$         1,373,746$         1,402,291$         1,431,407$        1,461,105$        1,491,396$        1,522,294$        1,553,810$        -$                       

7,749$             7,910$              8,075$              8,242$              8,414$              8,588$              8,767$              8,948$              9,134$              9,323$              104,067$         

-$                 -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

7,749$               7,910$                 8,075$                 8,242$                 8,414$                 8,588$                8,767$                8,948$                9,134$                9,323$                104,067$         

5,967$             6,091$              6,218$              6,347$              6,479$              6,613$              6,751$              6,891$              7,033$              7,179$              80,135$           

1,852$             1,891$              1,930$              1,971$              2,011$              2,053$              2,096$              2,139$              2,184$              2,229$              24,879$           

960$                980$                  1,000$              1,021$              1,042$              1,064$              1,086$              1,109$              1,132$              1,155$              12,894$           

447$                456$                  466$                  476$                  485$                  496$                 506$                 516$                 527$                 538$                 6,005$              

1,286$             1,313$              1,340$              1,368$              1,396$              1,425$              1,455$              1,485$              1,516$              1,547$              17,272$           

832$                849$                  867$                  885$                  903$                  922$                 941$                 961$                 981$                 1,001$              11,173$           

129$                131$                  134$                  137$                  140$                  143$                 146$                 149$                 152$                 155$                 1,729$              

9,012$             9,200$              9,391$              9,587$              9,786$              9,989$              10,196$           10,408$           10,623$           10,843$           121,038$         

3,581$             3,656$              3,732$              3,809$              3,888$              3,969$              4,051$              4,135$              4,221$              4,309$              48,095$           

1,048$             1,070$              1,092$              1,115$              1,138$              1,162$              1,186$              1,210$              1,235$              1,261$              14,075$           

1,897$             1,936$              1,977$              2,018$              2,060$              2,103$              2,146$              2,191$              2,236$              2,282$              25,477$           

401$                409$                  417$                  426$                  435$                  444$                 453$                 463$                 472$                 482$                 5,380$              

27,412$             27,983$               28,565$               29,159$               29,765$               30,383$              31,013$              31,656$              32,312$              32,981$              368,152$         

7,103$             7,251$              7,402$              7,556$              7,713$              7,873$              8,036$              8,203$              8,373$              8,546$              95,395$           

152$                155$                  158$                  162$                  165$                  168$                 172$                 175$                 179$                 183$                 2,040$              

7,255$               7,406$                 7,560$                 7,717$                 7,878$                 8,041$                8,208$                8,378$                8,552$                8,729$                97,434$           

35,160$             35,893$               36,640$               37,401$               38,179$               38,971$              39,780$              40,605$              41,446$              42,304$              472,219$         

8



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Comstock Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

*Base Taxable Value 53,491$          53,491$          53,491$        53,491$        53,491$            53,491$        53,491$          53,491$          53,491$          53,491$          

Estimated New TV 54,561$          55,652$          56,765$        57,900$        59,058$            60,240$        61,444$          670,973$        1,292,693$    1,318,547$    

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 1,070$               2,161$               3,274$             4,409$             5,567$                 6,749$             7,953$               617,482$           1,239,202$       1,265,056$       

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 6$                    13$                  20$                26$                33$                    40$                48$                  3,705$             7,435$             7,590$             

School Operating Tax 17.8437 -$                 -$                 -$               -$               -$                   -$               -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 6$                    13$                  20$                26$                33$                    40$                48$                  3,705$             7,435$             7,590$             

School Operating Tax 17.8437 -$                 -$                 -$               -$               -$                   -$               -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

School Total 23.8437 6$                       13$                     20$                  26$                  33$                       40$                  48$                     3,705$               7,435$               7,590$               

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 5$                    10$                  15$                20$                26$                    31$                37$                  2,853$             5,725$             5,845$             

County Public Safety 1.4344 2$                    3$                     5$                  6$                  8$                      10$                11$                  886$                1,778$             1,815$             

County Housing 0.7434 1$                    2$                     2$                  3$                  4$                      5$                  6$                     459$                921$                940$                

County Seniors 0.3462 0$                    1$                     1$                  2$                  2$                      2$                  3$                     214$                429$                438$                

Sinking Fund 0.9958 1$                    2$                     3$                  4$                  6$                      7$                  8$                     615$                1,234$             1,260$             

County 911 0.6442 1$                    1$                     2$                  3$                  4$                      4$                  5$                     398$                798$                815$                

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 0$                    0$                     0$                  0$                  1$                      1$                  1$                     62$                  124$                126$                

KRESA ISD 6.9785 7$                    15$                  23$                31$                39$                    47$                56$                  4,309$             8,648$             8,828$             

KVCC College 2.7729 3$                    6$                     9$                  12$                15$                    19$                22$                  1,712$             3,436$             3,508$             

Township Operating 0.8115 1$                    2$                     3$                  4$                  5$                      5$                  6$                     501$                1,006$             1,027$             

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 2$                    3$                     5$                  6$                  8$                      10$                12$                  907$                1,820$             1,858$             

County Transportation 0.3102 0$                    1$                     1$                  1$                  2$                      2$                  2$                     192$                384$                392$                

21.2259 23$                     46$                     69$                  94$                  118$                    143$                169$                   13,107$             26,303$             26,852$             

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Comstock Debt 5.5000 6$                    12$                  18$                24$                31$                    37$                44$                  3,396$             6,816$             6,958$             

County Juvenile 0.1176 0$                    0$                     0$                  1$                  1$                      1$                  1$                     73$                  146$                149$                

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 5.6176 6$                       12$                     18$                  25$                  31$                       38$                  45$                     3,469$               6,961$               7,107$               

50.6872

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 29$                     59$                     89$                   120$                152$                     184$                217$                   16,812$             33,738$             34,442$             

Footnotes:

Average Home taxable Value 152,075$               



Tax Increment Financing Capture

TDN Capture - Comstock Schools

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

53,491$          53,491$            53,491$            53,491$            53,491$            53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           53,491$           -$                       

1,344,917$    1,371,816$      1,399,252$      1,427,237$      1,455,782$      1,484,898$     1,514,596$     1,544,887$     1,575,785$     1,607,301$     -$                       

1,291,426$       1,318,325$         1,345,761$         1,373,746$         1,402,291$         1,431,407$        1,461,105$        1,491,396$        1,522,294$        1,553,810$        -$                       

7,749$             7,910$              8,075$              8,242$              8,414$              8,588$              8,767$              8,948$              9,134$              9,323$              104,067$         

-$                 -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

7,749$               7,910$                 8,075$                 8,242$                 8,414$                 8,588$                8,767$                8,948$                9,134$                9,323$                104,067$         

5,967$             6,091$              6,218$              6,347$              6,479$              6,613$              6,751$              6,891$              7,033$              7,179$              80,135$           

1,852$             1,891$              1,930$              1,971$              2,011$              2,053$              2,096$              2,139$              2,184$              2,229$              24,879$           

960$                980$                  1,000$              1,021$              1,042$              1,064$              1,086$              1,109$              1,132$              1,155$              12,894$           

447$                456$                  466$                  476$                  485$                  496$                 506$                 516$                 527$                 538$                 6,005$              

1,286$             1,313$              1,340$              1,368$              1,396$              1,425$              1,455$              1,485$              1,516$              1,547$              17,272$           

832$                849$                  867$                  885$                  903$                  922$                 941$                 961$                 981$                 1,001$              11,173$           

129$                131$                  134$                  137$                  140$                  143$                 146$                 149$                 152$                 155$                 1,729$              

9,012$             9,200$              9,391$              9,587$              9,786$              9,989$              10,196$           10,408$           10,623$           10,843$           121,038$         

3,581$             3,656$              3,732$              3,809$              3,888$              3,969$              4,051$              4,135$              4,221$              4,309$              48,095$           

1,048$             1,070$              1,092$              1,115$              1,138$              1,162$              1,186$              1,210$              1,235$              1,261$              14,075$           

1,897$             1,936$              1,977$              2,018$              2,060$              2,103$              2,146$              2,191$              2,236$              2,282$              25,477$           

401$                409$                  417$                  426$                  435$                  444$                 453$                 463$                 472$                 482$                 5,380$              

27,412$             27,983$               28,565$               29,159$               29,765$               30,383$              31,013$              31,656$              32,312$              32,981$              368,152$         

7,749$             7,910$              8,075$              8,242$              8,414$              8,588$              8,767$              8,948$              9,134$              9,323$              104,067$         

-$                 -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

7,749$               7,910$                 8,075$                 8,242$                 8,414$                 8,588$                8,767$                8,948$                9,134$                9,323$                104,067$         

5,967$             6,091$              6,218$              6,347$              6,479$              6,613$              6,751$              6,891$              7,033$              7,179$              80,135$           

1,852$             1,891$              1,930$              1,971$              2,011$              2,053$              2,096$              2,139$              2,184$              2,229$              24,879$           

960$                980$                  1,000$              1,021$              1,042$              1,064$              1,086$              1,109$              1,132$              1,155$              12,894$           

447$                456$                  466$                  476$                  485$                  496$                 506$                 516$                 527$                 538$                 6,005$              

1,286$             1,313$              1,340$              1,368$              1,396$              1,425$              1,455$              1,485$              1,516$              1,547$              17,272$           

832$                849$                  867$                  885$                  903$                  922$                 941$                 961$                 981$                 1,001$              11,173$           

129$                131$                  134$                  137$                  140$                  143$                 146$                 149$                 152$                 155$                 1,729$              

9,012$             9,200$              9,391$              9,587$              9,786$              9,989$              10,196$           10,408$           10,623$           10,843$           121,038$         

3,581$             3,656$              3,732$              3,809$              3,888$              3,969$              4,051$              4,135$              4,221$              4,309$              48,095$           



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Summary Capture - All

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00%

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Calendar Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

*Base Taxable Value 444,013$       444,013$        444,013$         444,013$            444,013$         444,013$           444,013$           444,013$           444,013$           444,013$         444,013$         

Estimated New TV 5,978,377$    11,626,744$  17,388,079$    23,264,641$       29,258,733$    35,372,708$      41,608,962$      47,361,641$      52,598,574$      53,650,546$    54,723,557$    

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) 5,534,364$      11,182,731$    16,944,066$      22,820,628$         28,814,720$      34,928,695$        41,164,949$        46,917,628$        52,154,561$        53,206,533$      54,279,544$      

School Capture Millage Rate

State Education Tax (SET) 6.0000 33,206$         67,096$          101,664$         136,924$            172,888$         209,572$           246,990$           281,506$           312,927$           319,239$         325,677$         

School Operating Tax (Portage) 17.5695 -$                -$                -$                 -$                     -$                 -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                 -$                 

School Operating Tax (Comstock) 17.8437 -$                -$                -$                 -$                     -$                 -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                 -$                 

School Total 23.5695 33,206$            67,096$            101,664$           136,924$               172,888$           209,572$              246,990$              281,506$              312,927$              319,239$           325,677$           

Local Capture Millage Rate

County Operating 4.6202 25,570$         51,666$          78,285$           105,436$            133,130$         161,378$           190,190$           216,769$           240,965$           245,825$         250,782$         

County Public Safety 1.4344 7,938$            16,041$          24,305$           32,734$              41,332$           50,102$             59,047$             67,299$             74,811$             76,319$           77,859$           

County Housing 0.7434 4,114$            8,313$            12,596$           16,965$              21,421$           25,966$             30,602$             34,879$             38,772$             39,554$           40,351$           

County Seniors 0.3462 1,916$            3,871$            5,866$             7,901$                 9,976$             12,092$             14,251$             16,243$             18,056$             18,420$           18,792$           

Portage Sinking (Portage Only) 0.4983 2,757$            5,571$            8,441$             11,368$              14,353$           17,399$             20,505$             21,764$             22,300$             22,750$           23,208$           

Comstock Sinking (Comstock Only) 0.9958 1$                   3$                   5$                     8$                        10$                   12$                     15$                     3,227$                7,371$                7,520$             7,673$             

County 911 0.6442 3,565$            7,204$            10,915$           14,701$              18,562$           22,501$             26,518$             30,224$             33,598$             34,276$           34,967$           

County Veterans Fund 0.0997 552$               1,115$            1,689$             2,275$                 2,873$             3,482$                4,104$                4,678$                5,200$                5,305$             5,412$             

KRESA ISD 6.9785 38,622$         78,039$          118,244$         159,254$            201,084$         243,750$           287,270$           327,415$           363,961$           371,302$         378,790$         

KVCC College 2.7729 15,346$         31,009$          46,984$           63,279$              79,900$           96,854$             114,146$           130,098$           144,619$           147,536$         150,512$         

Township Operating 0.8115 4,491$            9,075$            13,750$           18,519$              23,383$           28,345$             33,405$             38,074$             42,323$             43,177$           44,048$           

Pavilion Fire 1.4689 8,129$            16,426$          24,889$           33,521$              42,326$           51,307$             60,467$             68,917$             76,610$             78,155$           79,731$           

Portage Library (Portage Only) 1.9922 11,023$         22,272$          33,745$           45,448$              57,385$           69,560$             81,980$             87,014$             89,156$             90,953$           92,785$           

County Transportation 0.3102 1,717$            3,469$            5,256$             7,079$                 8,938$             10,835$             12,769$             14,554$             16,178$             16,505$           16,838$           

23.7164 125,742$         254,074$          384,971$           518,487$               654,673$           793,582$              935,270$              1,061,153$          1,173,919$          1,197,596$        1,221,747$        

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

Portage Debt (Portage Only) 6.8500 651$               1,315$            1,992$             2,683$                 3,387$             4,106$                4,839$                5,136$                5,263$                5,369$             5,477$             

Comstock Debt (Comstock Only) 5.5000 6$                   18$                 30$                   42$                      55$                   68$                     81$                     17,821$             40,710$             41,536$           42,379$           

County Juvenile 0.1176 38,554$         77,895$          118,022$         158,952$            200,701$         243,285$           286,720$           304,708$           312,689$           318,990$         325,417$         

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 12.4676 39,211$            79,227$            120,044$           161,677$               204,143$           247,459$              291,640$              327,665$              358,662$              365,896$           373,273$           

59.7535

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture 158,949$          321,170$          486,636$            655,411$               827,561$            1,003,155$           1,182,260$           1,342,659$           1,486,847$           1,516,835$        1,547,424$        

Footnotes:

SUM Single Fam Built 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 16 0 160

SUM Townhome Built 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 3 0 51

SUM TDN Built 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 4 4 0 64

SUM All Units 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 28 23 0 275



Tax Increment Financing Capture

Summary Capture - All

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 TOTAL

2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045

444,013$         444,013$         444,013$         444,013$         444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        

55,818,028$    56,934,388$    58,073,076$    59,234,538$    60,419,228$   61,627,613$   62,860,165$   64,117,369$   65,399,716$   -$                     

444,013$         444,013$         444,013$         444,013$         444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        444,013$        

55,818,028$    56,934,388$    58,073,076$    59,234,538$    60,419,228$   61,627,613$   62,860,165$   64,117,369$   65,399,716$   -$                     

55,374,015$      56,490,375$      57,629,063$      58,790,525$      59,975,215$     61,183,600$     62,416,152$     63,673,356$     64,955,703$     -$                     

332,244$         338,942$         345,774$         352,743$         359,851$        367,102$        374,497$        382,040$        389,734$        5,450,619$     

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

332,244$           338,942$           345,774$           352,743$           359,851$           367,102$           374,497$           382,040$           389,734$           5,450,619$     

255,839$         260,997$         266,258$         271,624$         277,097$        282,680$        288,375$        294,184$        300,108$        4,197,158$     

79,428$           81,030$           82,663$           84,329$           86,028$           87,762$           89,530$           91,333$           93,172$           1,303,061$     

41,165$           41,995$           42,841$           43,705$           44,586$           45,484$           46,400$           47,335$           48,288$           675,332$        

19,170$           19,557$           19,951$           20,353$           20,763$           21,182$           21,608$           22,044$           22,488$           314,501$        

23,675$           24,152$           24,639$           25,135$           25,641$           26,157$           26,684$           27,221$           27,768$           401,488$        

7,828$             7,987$             8,149$             8,314$             8,483$             8,654$             8,830$             9,008$             9,191$             102,289$        

35,672$           36,391$           37,125$           37,873$           38,636$           39,414$           40,208$           41,018$           41,844$           585,215$        

5,521$             5,632$             5,746$             5,861$             5,980$             6,100$             6,223$             6,348$             6,476$             90,571$           

386,428$         394,218$         402,164$         410,270$         418,537$        426,970$        435,571$        444,345$        453,293$        6,339,524$     

153,547$         156,642$         159,800$         163,020$         166,305$        169,656$        173,074$        176,560$        180,116$        2,519,003$     

44,936$           45,842$           46,766$           47,709$           48,670$           49,650$           50,651$           51,671$           52,712$           737,196$        

81,339$           82,979$           84,651$           86,357$           88,098$           89,873$           91,683$           93,530$           95,413$           1,334,402$     

94,654$           96,561$           98,506$           100,489$         102,512$        104,576$        106,681$        108,828$        111,018$        1,605,147$     

17,177$           17,523$           17,877$           18,237$           18,604$           18,979$           19,361$           19,751$           20,149$           281,797$        

1,246,380$        1,271,506$        1,297,135$        1,323,276$        1,349,941$       1,377,138$       1,404,879$       1,433,175$       1,462,037$       20,486,684$   

5,587$             5,700$             5,815$             5,932$             6,051$             6,173$             6,297$             6,424$             6,553$             94,752$           

43,238$           44,115$           45,009$           45,921$           46,851$           47,800$           48,767$           49,755$           50,761$           564,962$        

331,973$         338,660$         345,480$         352,437$         359,533$        366,771$        374,153$        381,683$        389,364$        5,625,987$     

380,798$           388,474$           396,303$           404,289$           412,435$           420,743$           429,218$           437,862$           446,679$           6,285,701$     

1,578,624$        1,610,449$        1,642,910$        1,676,020$        1,709,792$        1,744,239$        1,779,376$        1,815,216$        1,851,772$        25,937,303$   



Table 3 

Reimbursement Schedule 



Tax Capture Reimbursement Allocation Schedule

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Developer 

Maximum 

Reimbursement Proportionality

School & Local 

Taxes

Local-Only 

Taxes Total Estimated Capture

State 9.6% 1,788,697$       1,788,697$     Administrative Fees 

Local 90.4% 12,113,563$     12,113,563$ State Brownfield Redevelopment Fund

TOTAL 13,902,260$     13,902,260$    Local Brownfield Revolving Fund

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036

Total State Incremental Revenue 33,206$         67,096$           101,664$       136,924$       172,888$       209,572$       246,990$       281,506$            312,927$       319,239$       325,677$      

State Brownfield Redevelopment Fund (50% of SET) (16,603)$            (33,548)$             (50,832)$            (68,462)$           (86,444)$           (104,786)$         (123,495)$         (140,753)$              (156,464)$         (159,620)$         (162,839)$        

State TIR Available for Reimbursement 16,603$             33,548$              50,832$             68,462$            86,444$            104,786$          123,495$          140,753$               156,464$          159,620$          162,839$         

Total Local Incremental Revenue 125,742$       254,074$         384,971$       518,487$       654,673$       793,582$       935,270$       1,061,153$        1,173,919$    1,197,596$    1,221,747$   

BRA Administrative Fee (10%) (12,574)$            (25,407)$             (38,497)$            (51,849)$           (65,467)$           (79,358)$           (93,527)$           (106,115)$              (117,392)$         (119,760)$         (122,175)$        

Local TIR Available for Reimbursement 113,168$          228,666$            346,474$          466,638$          589,206$          714,224$          841,743$          955,038$               1,056,527$       1,077,837$       1,099,572$      

Total State & Local TIR Available 129,771$          262,214$            397,306$          535,100$          675,650$          819,010$          965,238$          1,095,791$            1,212,991$       1,237,456$       1,262,411$      

DEVELOPER Beginning Balance

DEVELOPER Eligible Activity Balance 31,679,605$            31,897,972$    31,983,896$      31,934,727$    31,747,766$    31,420,254$    30,949,382$    30,332,282$    29,541,112$         28,578,345$    27,340,889$    26,078,478$  

100.0%

Developer Reimbursement 20,696,641$            348,138$         348,138$           348,138$         348,138$        348,138$        348,138$        348,138$        304,621$              250,224$        -$                      -$                     

      State Tax Reimbursement 16,600$         33,541$           50,821$         68,447$         86,426$         104,764$       123,469$       140,723$            156,431$       159,586$       162,804$      

      Local Tax Reimbursement 113,144$       228,618$         346,401$       466,540$       589,081$       714,074$       841,566$       954,837$            1,056,304$    1,077,609$    1,099,340$   

      Total Developer Reimbursement Balance 20,915,035$    21,001,014$      20,951,930$    20,765,081$    20,437,712$    19,967,012$    19,350,116$    18,559,177$         17,596,666$    16,359,471$    15,097,327$   

0.0%

EGLE Reimbursement 5,000$                       -$                       

      State Tax Reimbursement 4$                   7$                     11$                 14$                 18$                 22$                 26$                 30$                      33$                 34$                 34$                

      Local Tax Reimbursement 24$                 48$                   73$                 98$                 124$               151$               178$               202$                   223$               227$               232$              

      Total Developer Reimbursement Balance 4,973$              4,917$                4,833$              4,721$              4,578$              4,405$              4,201$              3,970$                   3,714$              3,453$              3,187$             

Total Annual Developer Reimbursement 129,771$          262,214$            397,306$          535,100$         675,650$         819,010$         965,238$         1,095,791$           1,212,991$      1,237,456$      1,262,411$     

LBRF Deposits *

      State Tax Capture                                                 -$                                

      Local Tax Capture -$                                

      Total LBRF Capture

* Up to five years of capture for LBRF Deposits after eligible activities are reimbursed. May be taken from EGLE & Local TIR only.  

Discount rate 7%

Footnotes: NPV $7,370,190

Estimated Total 

Years of Plan:
20

LOCAL BROWNFIELD REVOLVING FUND



Tax Capture Reimbursement Allocation Schedule

Pavilion Investors, LLC

11-06-301-010 and 11-06-151-021

Pavilion Township, MI 

February 2025

Estimated Capture 24,423,930$  

Administrative Fees 2,048,668$     

State Brownfield Redevelopment Fund 1,968,623$    

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 6,324,831$     

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 TOTAL

332,244$       338,942$        345,774$       352,743$       359,851$       3,937,246$     

(166,122)$         (169,471)$           (172,887)$         (176,372)$         (179,926)$         (1,968,623)$   

166,122$          169,471$            172,887$          176,372$          179,926$          -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       1,968,623$     

1,246,380$    1,271,506$     1,297,135$    1,323,276$    1,349,941$    1,377,138$    1,404,879$   1,433,175$   1,462,037$   20,486,684$   

(124,638)$         (127,151)$           (129,714)$         (132,328)$         (134,994)$         (137,714)$         (140,488)$         (143,318)$         (146,204)$         (2,048,668)$   

1,121,742$       1,144,356$        1,167,422$       1,190,949$       1,214,946$       1,239,424$       1,264,391$      1,289,858$      1,315,834$      18,438,016$  

1,287,864$       1,313,827$        1,340,309$       1,367,320$       1,394,872$       1,239,424$       1,264,391$      1,289,858$      1,315,834$      

24,790,614$    23,476,787$     22,136,478$    20,769,157$    20,769,157$    20,769,157$    20,769,157$   20,769,157$   20,769,157$   

-$                      -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                     23,688,453$   

166,087$       169,435$        172,851$       176,334$       1,788,320$     

1,121,506$    1,144,114$     1,167,175$    1,190,697$    12,111,006$   

13,809,734$    12,496,185$      11,156,159$    9,789,127$      9,789,127$      9,789,127$      9,789,127$      9,789,127$      9,789,127$      13,899,326$  

5,000$             

35$                 36$                  36$                 37$                 377$                

237$               241$                246$               251$               2,556$             

2,915$              2,638$                2,355$              2,066$              2,066$              2,066$              2,066$              2,066$              2,066$              2,934$             

1,287,864$      1,313,827$        1,340,309$      1,367,320$      -$                       -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      13,902,260$    

377$                 377$                

1,214,946$      1,239,424$      1,264,391$      1,289,858$      1,315,834$      6,324,453$     

-$                  1,215,324$      1,239,424$      1,264,391$      1,289,858$      1,315,834$      6,324,831$     



Attachment A 

Brownfield Plan Resolutions 



Attachment B 

Reimbursement Agreement 



Attachment C 

Site Plan 





Attachment D 

Housing Study 

MJ_DMS 38783195v1 



An excerpt of the W.E. Upjohn Institute Kalamazoo County Housing Plan dated July 2022 is 
included in this Plan, which includes the Introduction, Executive Summary, and Methodology. 
The complete Kalamazoo County Housing Plan can be found here: 
https://www.kalcounty.com/housing/pdf_files/Kalamazoo%20County%20Housing%20Plan%20f
inal%208.15.22.pdf



Kalamazoo County 
Housing Plan

Report prepared by W.E. Upjohn Institute and the Southcentral Michigan Planning Council 
for the Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners

July 2022

Lee Adams, Gerrit Anderson, Dakota McCracken, Emily Petz, Brian Pittelko



2Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Contents

Introduction ........................................................................ 4
Creating This Plan .............................................................................................5
Executive Summary ..........................................................................................5
Housing Continuum ..........................................................................................6
Partners ..............................................................................................................7
Housing Assessment .........................................................................................8
Supply and Demand ........................................................................................9
Unhoused ..........................................................................................................9
Vision ...............................................................................................................10 
Mission ............................................................................................................10
The Charge .....................................................................................................10
Core Values and Goals .................................................................................. 11

Methodology ................................................................................12
Housed Survey Methodology .......................................................................12
Unhoused Survey Methodology ...................................................................13

Housing Assessment ................................................................14
About the Data ...............................................................................................15
Geography .....................................................................................................18
Population and Households...........................................................................20
Race .................................................................................................................23
Age ..................................................................................................................27
Tenure ..............................................................................................................30
Income to Afford Rent ....................................................................................33
Cost Burden .....................................................................................................36
Housing Units ..................................................................................................39
Aging Housing Stock ......................................................................................42
Housing Building Permits ............................................................................... 44
Price and Wages ........................................................................................... 44
Sale Price and Inventory ............................................................................... 45

General Survey Results ................................................. 46
About the Data ...............................................................................................47

Unhoused Survey Results ............................................. 58
About the Data ...............................................................................................59

Contents
Housing Supply and Demand .................................... 65
Current Demand .............................................................................................66
Cost Burden .....................................................................................................67
Housing Preferences .......................................................................................68
Impacts of Great Recession ...........................................................................70
Future Demand................................................................................................71

Goals, Objectives, and Strategies ..............................74
Collaboration ..................................................................................................75
Goal1: Increase Rental Opportunities ..........................................................76
Goal 2: Ensure Housing Supply Is Built to Meet Demand ......................... 77
Goal 3: Remove Barriers to Acquiring and Keeping Homes......................78
Goal 4: Rehab Existing Housing Stock .........................................................79
Goal 5: Embrace Housing as a Workforce Development Strategy ......... 80
Goal 6: Increase and Coordinate Supportive Services .............................81
Goal 7: Advocate for Housing for All ...........................................................81
Highlighted Strategies ....................................................................................82
Ownership Structures .....................................................................................88

Appendix ............................................................................91
Additional Strategies ......................................................................................92
Housing Segregation Timeline ......................................................................96
“Other” Responses to Housing Survey Questions .................................... 103
Survey Letter ................................................................................................. 109
Urban Transect Definitions ...........................................................................110

Charts
  1.  Kalamazoo County Income by Race, 2020 ......................................24
 2. Michigan Population Pyramid, 2020 .................................................27
 3. Kalamazoo Population Pyramid, 2020 ..............................................27
 4. Seniors in Kalamazoo, 2020 ..............................................................28
 5. Kalamazoo Income by Age, 2020 .....................................................29
   6. Kalamazoo Owner vs. Renter .............................................................34
 7. Kalamazoo Homeownership by Age .................................................34
 8. Permit Units by Year ............................................................................. 44
 9.   FHFA Price Index and Average Weekly Wage Index ...................... 44
 10. Inventory and Average Sale Price ..................................................... 45



3Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Contents

Contents
 11. Top Three Priorities for Supporting Housing.......................................47
 12. Which of the Following Do You Worry About in Your Home or 

Apartment? ............................................................................................48
 13. Which of the Following Do You Worry About in Your Home or 

Apartment?: Renter vs. Owner .............................................................49
 14.  What Five Factors Are Most Important to You When Choosing 
  a Home? ................................................................................................50
 15.  Percent of Income That Goes to Housing Expenses, by Income
        Level (in Thousands) ..............................................................................51 
 16.  Income by Location ..............................................................................52
 17.  Percent of Income That Goes to Housing Expenses, by Location ....53
 18.  Percent of Income That Goes to Housing Expenses, Renter vs. 
  Owner ....................................................................................................54
 19.  Do You Feel Your Housing is Affordable, Renter vs. Owner .............55
 20.  Do You Feel Your Housing is Affordable, by Location ......................56
 21.  Housing Location, Current vs Preferred ..............................................57
 22.  Age of Unhoused Individual ................................................................59
 23. Children under 16 Years of Age Who Regularly Live in Household 60
 24.   Income of Unhoused Individual During the Past 12 Months .............61
 25.  Percent of Income Going to Housing or Shelter Each Month 
  by Income ..............................................................................................61
 26.  Time Passed Since Becoming Unhoused .............................................62
 27.  Feelings Regarding Safety over the Past 30 Days ..............................62
 28.  What Barriers Do You Believe Keep You From Securing Housing? ..63
 29.  Living Situation Prior to Becoming Unhoused .....................................63
 30.  Additional Support Needed to Become Rehoused ........................... 64
 31.  2021 Income and Housing Burden for Renters ..................................68
 32.  2021 Income and Housing Burden for Owners .................................68
 33.   Housing Preferences and Existing Housing Stock .............................69
 34.   National Housing Preference ..............................................................70
 35.  Kalamazoo County Housing Units and Population Change, 
  2000-2021............................................................................................71
 36.  Renters Planning on Buying a House in the Next Three Years 
  by Age ....................................................................................................72

Images
 1. Housing Continuum ................................................................................6

    2. Urban Transect ......................................................................................57
 3. Housing Types .......................................................................................82
 4. Housing Segregation Timeline ............................................................97
   

Tables
 1. Census Tract to County Subdivision ....................................................19
 2. Kalamazoo County Population .....................................................21-22
 3. Tenure by Household Size, Kalamazoo County ................................23
 4. Race 2015-2020, Kalamazoo County ..............................................23
 5. Kalamazoo County Income By Race, 2020 ......................................25
 6. Kalamazoo County Homeownership  ..........................................32-33
   7. Kalamazoo County Housing Units ............................................... 40-41
   8. Year Structure Was Built, Kalamazoo County ...................................42 
 9. Kalamazoo County Unhoused Survey, Race .....................................59
 10. Kalamazoo County Unhoused Population, Veteran Status ............. 60
 11. Affordable Units to Alleviate Overburdened Renters, 
  Estimate 2021 .......................................................................................67
 12. Affordable Units to Alleviate Overburdened Homeowners, 
  Estimate 2021 .......................................................................................67
 13. Units Needed to Meet Demand from Growth Over the 
  Next Eight Years ...................................................................................73
Appendix Table 1: Direct Shelter ..................................................................97
Appendix Table 2: Assets for Housing Kalamazoo County: 
  Programs ......................................................................................... 98-99

Maps
 1. Kalamazoo Subdivision by Census Tract, 2010 Tracts .....................16
 2. Kalamazoo Subdivision by Census Tract, 2020 Tracts .....................17
 3. Kalamazoo Population Percent Change, 2015–2020 .....................26
 4. Kalamazoo Homeownership Percent Change, 2015–2020 ...........34
 5. Kalamazoo Income Needed to Afford Median Rent, 2020 ............35
 6. Kalamazoo Cost-Burdened Homeowners, 2020 .............................37
 7. Kalamazoo Cost-Burdened Renters, 2020 ........................................38
 8. Kalamazoo Housing Units Percent Change, 2015–2020 ................43
Appendix Map 1: City of Kalamazoo: Redlined ...................................... 107



Introduction

1



5

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Creating This Plan

The Upjohn Institute was asked by the Kalamazoo County Board of 
Commissioners to complete a housing plan for Kalamazoo County. 
This plan includes a housing needs assessment, market demands, 
results from the county-wide housing survey, goals and objectives, 
and strategies to move forward. Community and committee 
engagement helped guide the direction and focus.

Executive Summary
A healthy housing continuum provides homes for those in a range 
of incomes or in different life situations. Kalamazoo County has 
a shortage of housing units at multiple price points. Low rates of 
construction, high construction costs, increased demand from a 
growing population, and housing costs that are increasing faster 
than wages have contributed to the shortage and affordability 
issues. Fortunately, many strategies are available to help alleviate 
some of the housing concerns found in the county. These strategies 
are most effective when community partners band together and 
implement them as a cohesive unit.

The housing concerns in Kalamazoo County are not small. Rising 
costs have put most moderate- and low-income earners into 
situations where they are paying more in rent or ownership costs 
than what is financially sustainable. This increases the chances 
for displacement, especially for those with fixed incomes, such as 
seniors, individuals with disabilities, or people trying to rebuild 
after homelessness. There are over 15,000 overburdened renting 
households in Kalamazoo County. Of those households, 13,000 
have annual gross incomes below $35,000; that level of income 
only allows for monthly housing expenses to be at or below $875. 
These numbers are further discussed on page 67.

 Housing situations exist on a continuum from homelessness 
to securely affording a market-rate home. An example of 
this housing continuum is shown on the next page. A healthy 
housing market has options for any situation. People can 
move throughout the continuum as needs change in their lives. 
Kalamazoo County needs additional housing units in all types 
and price points, but there is a greater need for homes that 
are consistently affordable for those making moderate to low 
incomes. The addition of income-qualified units could provide 
sustained housing at price points that allow occupants to 
achieve financial stability and potentially move to a more secure 
form of housing.

Affordability is defined by a household 
paying 30% or less of their total gross annual 
income on housing.  This is an inclusive 
definition is used for market-rate or subsidized 
housing. Conversely, income-qualified units are 
intended only for low- and moderate-income 
households.



6

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Housing Continuum

The housing continuum demonstrates the range of housing types 
in which individuals may live during their lifetimes. A healthy 
housing market has options for any stage. Individuals can move in 
any direction at any point in their lives. A healthy community has 

Source: Housing Continuum Image Courtesy 
of United Way of Halifax (Canada)

options along this continuum in order to allow residents to not only 
stay in their community through each stage, but, more importantly, 
to thrive through economic stability.

Image 1: Housing Continuum



7

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Partners

No single group or solution will solve the housing crisis in 
Kalamazoo County. As such, many individuals and organizations 
were asked to contribute to the creation of this housing plan, 
including municipal leaders, realtors, developers, employers, 
nonprofit agencies, and residents. A Steering Committee was 
created to provide critical direction and innovative ideas to the 
planning process, which in turn guided the goals and objectives 
of this plan. Stakeholder input on these strategies is vital, as their 
knowledge of local conditions and politics helps determine which 
are likely to succeed. Several public meetings were held to collect 
feedback on preliminary results, and survey responses were 
collected from around 3,000 county residents. The participation 
showed the level of concern and passion people have for housing 
solutions in Kalamazoo County.

The housing plan was made possible by the financial contributions 
from Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners, Local Initiatives 
Support Corporation (LISC), the city of Portage, Kalamazoo 
County Continuum of Care, and an anonymous donor. Additional 
support was contributed by Oshtemo Township and volunteers 
at shelters and nonprofits to help distribute the unhoused survey. 
These shelters and nonprofits included the Disability Network, 
Cope/Kalamazoo Homeless Coalition, Ministry with Community, 
Open Doors, Kalamazoo Gospel Mission, Recovery Institute, 
South County Community Services, Vine Neighborhood, YWCA, 
Integrated Services of Kalamazoo, and Housing Resources Inc.  
We are very grateful for the collaboration and partnerships that 
were created throughout this process.



8

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Housing Assessment

This plan uses a number of indicators to assess the condition of the 
housing continuum. The indicators examined include the current 
and projected population, the existing housing stock, and the needs 
and desires of the current population. Population indicators are 
needed to understand the current and future demand for housing in 
the county. An examination of the existing housing stock is needed 
in order to grasp what problems currently exist and which housing 
types are needed going forward. Assessing the needs and desires 
of the existing population helps guide decision-making around 
how resources are utilized to provide the greatest benefit to county 
residents.  

The population of Kalamazoo County has increased over the 
past few years and is expected to increase through 2030. The 
rate of growth in the county exceeded that of the state; likewise, 
Kalamazoo County has a higher proportion of those aged 18–24 
than the state. This population increase has led to a higher number 
of households as well. Unfortunately, the number of housing units 
produced since the Great Recession did not keep pace with the 
population growth. This underproduction of housing has caused 
housing shortages and price increases, which in turn have caused 
more households to pay more than 30% of their income toward 
housing expenses. This phenomenon was not experienced 
equally across all parts of the county with both urban and rural 
areas (Northside Neighborhood and Prairie Ronde and Pavilion 
Townships, respectively) seeing higher than average levels of 
overburdened renters.

Many homes in Kalamazoo County have issues that require 
repairs. This is exacerbated by the fact that much of the housing 

stock is older than 50 years. There are also multiple historic 
districts requiring specific standards for updates, adding cost 
or complication for owners, many who have low to moderate 
incomes. Those who responded to the housing survey stated that 
structural issues, mold, electrical, pests, and lead were the top 
concerns with their house or apartment; structural issues were the 
most frequent concern. Residents are also concerned about poor 
insulation and leaky windows, which was brought up regularly 
by survey respondents in different questions.  Addressing the 
immediate and long-term issues with existing homes may, in some 
cases, cost more than the value of the house; this often leads to 
delays in addressing these concerns and impacts the quality of 
housing throughout the county.

The top four housing concerns of those responding to the survey 
were affordable housing for low income, unhoused, and vulnerable 
families; supportive services (mental health, financial literacy, etc.); 
and more units; followed closely by more transitional or temporary 
housing for those currently unhoused. Addressing all of these 
priorities would add options to the housing continuum for the most 
vulnerable and overburdened populations in the county. It is also 
important to note that survey respondents were from all income 
levels and from all parts of the county. 

The survey results show many people preferring to live in more rural 
parts of the county. This corresponds with the amenities individuals 
look for when buying a new home. The top seven included safety, 
cost, features of the dwelling, location, proximity to work, sense 
of community, and connection to nature through trails and parks. 
Many of these needs can be met in different urban and rural 
settings by increasing access to nature through connected trails and 
improving public transportation. 



9

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Supply and Demand

Over 15,000 households are in homes that do not meet their 
budget, while others are in types of housing they do not prefer. 
Meanwhile, the population in the county is growing, and housing 
construction is not keeping pace; it is anticipated that 7,750 new 
units are needed to appropriately house the new households 
forming or looking to locate in the county. These two factors have 
created housing shortages in several segments of the housing 
market. Therefore, higher rates of construction are essential to 
address both the current pent-up demand as well as the future 
demand. Local leaders will need to implement various strategies to 
enable and incentivize that increase in the supply of housing.

Unhoused

Forty percent of the respondents to the unhoused survey identified 
as Black, while just over 10% of the county’s population does, 
calling attention to racial equity concerns. Feedback from 
community meetings and survey responses focused on concern 
about the impact of longstanding institutionalized racism, which 
is preventing individuals from generating wealth. This further 
establishes that the impacts of race-based lending practices, 
redlining, and fair housing issues with renting remain an issue 
despite recent attention.

Over one-third (38.5%) of the unhoused individuals surveyed 
indicated that children under the age of 16 are part of their 
household. Respondents listed the top reason (42.4%) they 
moved to Kalamazoo County as family connections, and the least 
frequently cited (less than 4%) was for the emergency shelters in the 
county.

Prior to becoming unhoused, half of the individuals surveyed 
rented their homes, some of which included renting individual 
rooms. Another quarter stayed with friends or relatives. Half of the 
individuals surveyed considered where they lived before becoming 
unhoused as unaffordable. To further that point, the respondents 
also chose the price of rent being too high as the top factor 
contributing to their unhoused condition.

The survey also asked what additional programs or supports 
individuals needed to become rehoused. The greatest number of 
respondents marked rental financial assistance as a need, followed 
by pre-rental programs to improve the likelihood of landlord 
acceptance of their applications.



10

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Vision

Create an equitable, sustainable, and inclusive community that 
offers quality, healthy, safe, decent, and affordable homes for all.

Mission

Improve residents’ quality of life and sense of belonging, invigorate 
neighborhoods, and improve the economic future of our residents. 
Housing and other service providers will collaborate to leverage 
resources and build healthy residential communities throughout the 
county while promoting an atmosphere of pride, sustainability, and 
responsibility.

The Charge

To provide quality, affordable, accessible, and sustainable 
housing. To transform the lives of those who face affordable 
housing challenges by providing support through education and 
opportunity.



11

Introduction

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Introduction

Core Values

Professionalism: (Excellence, Financial Integrity, 
Accountability) To ensure financial integrity and be good stewards 
of our community’s investment. To achieve excellence in programs, 
services, and products.

Transparency: To be transparent throughout all steps of the 
millage implementation.

Equity: To dismantle systemic racism and commit to work toward 
an equitable and inclusive future for all residents.

Respect: To communicate in ways that promote open dialogue 
and respect. To respond to people with integrity, dignity, 
compassion, and fairness.

Collaboration: To build strong partnerships and demonstrate a 
collaborative spirit. To enhance our community by advocating for 
creative and equitable solutions to housing issues across all systems 
and services.

Innovation: To foster innovative and creative solutions that 
develop diverse county-wide housing solutions

Goals

1. Increase Rental Opportunities

2. Ensure Housing Supply Is Built to Meet Demand

3. Remove Barriers to Acquiring and Keeping 
Homes

4. Rehab Existing Housing Stock

5. Embrace Housing as a Workforce Development 
Strategy

6. Increase and Coordinate Supportive Services

7. Advocate for Housing for All



12

Methodology

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Methodology

Housed Survey Methodology

The intent of this survey was to document the housing characteristics 
and preferences of housed residents of Kalamazoo County. 
Survey questions were focused on demand for specific housing 
types, location preferences, clarifying housing challenges, 
getting feedback on housing priorities, and determining how 
different demographic groups are impacted by the housing crises. 
Information gathered from this survey was used to inform content in 
the Kalamazoo County Housing Plan. 

The target population for the survey was housed residents living in 
Kalamazoo County. For the purposes of this survey, all adults living 
in the household were asked to respond. As of 2020, Kalamazoo 
County has a population of 264,322, American Community Survey 
5 year estimates. There are 207,218, individuals aged 18 and over 
residing in Kalamazoo County as of 2020, American Community 
Survey 5 year estimates. Additionally, there are 104,278 occupied 
housing units as of 2020, Kalamazoo County Continuum of Care 
Annual Report. 

A sample of residential addresses was obtained from the 
Kalamazoo County government. Because the county government 
utilizes the address list for emergency services, apartment units 
are not specified. This lack of information was accounted for by 
identifying multifamily residents in the address list and verifying 
the number of units at the address from voting records. Addresses 
to be mailed survey prompts were randomly selected from the 
augmented list. Moreover, the survey was also shared on social 

media by cities, townships, villages, neighborhood groups, and 
nonprofits throughout Kalamazoo County.
The survey instrument was implemented via Survey Monkey on 
March 1, 2022, and concluded on May 22, 2022. A total of 
35,500 survey prompts were mailed to homes in Kalamazoo 
County. Resource limitations led to the selection of a multifaceted 
approach to advertising the survey among housed residents of 
Kalamazoo County. Moreover, this approach would attempt to 
account for the errors that could occur from administering a survey 
prompts only via a mailer. 

From the 35,500 survey prompts that were mailed, 3,000 
responses were received. Of the total population, the survey 
received a response rate of 1.4%. As the survey results were not 
a random sample of the county, the responses were weighted 
to reflect county demographics. The responses were more 
concentrated in homeowners and white individuals than the 
county’s population. For example, according to the U.S. Census 
American Community Survey, about 35% of households are 
renters. In the survey responses, about 15% were renters. Iterative 
proportional fitting (raking) was used to weight the results by both 
renters or owners, and race/ethnicity. Reweighting the survey 
responses brought the results closer to a representative sample of 
the county and helped reduce the possibility of response bias.

https://changethestory.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Continuum-of-Care-Annual-Report-2020-Final.pdf
https://changethestory.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Continuum-of-Care-Annual-Report-2020-Final.pdf


13

Methodology

Kalamazoo County Housing Plan: Methodology

Unhoused Survey Methodology

The intent of this survey was to document the housing characteristics 
and preferences of unhoused residents of Kalamazoo County. 
Survey questions focused on the impacts of programs and services, 
needs that are not being met, clarifying past and present housing 
challenges, getting feedback on housing priorities, and determining 
how different demographic groups are impacted by the housing 
crises. Information gathered from this survey was used to inform 
content in the Kalamazoo County Housing Plan. 

The target population for the survey was unhoused residents living 
in Kalamazoo County. For the purposes of this survey, unhoused 
individuals were self-identified. As of 2020, Kalamazoo County 
had a population of 264,322, according the the American 
Community Survey 5 year estimates. At least 2,112 individuals 
experienced homelessness in Kalamazoo County in 2020, 
Kalamazoo County Continuum of Care Annual Report. The 
unhoused survey received 169 responses.

The Continuum of Care worked with multiple different organizations 
to reach those who are experiencing homelessness. The target 
population was category one: literal homeless. This is defined as 
an individual or family who lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate 
nighttime residence, meaning: (i) Has a primary nighttime residence 
that is a public or private place not meant for human habitation; 
(ii) Is living in a publicly or privately operated shelter designated 
to provide temporary living arrangements (including congregate 
shelters, transitional housing, and hotels and motels paid for by 

charitable organizations or by federal, state, and local government 
programs); or (iii) Is exiting an institution where (s)he has resided 
for 90 days or less and who resided in an emergency shelter or 
place not meant for human habitation immediately before entering 
that institution. An individual or family has to meet only one of the 
above criteria to qualify as literal homeless. Partner organizations 
volunteered their time and energy to administer the survey through 
computers, phones, and tablets. The organizations serve or work 
with those who are unhoused in different capacities, including 
street outreach, case management, shelters, and transitional 
housing. These organizations included the Disability Network, 
Cope/Kalamazoo Homeless Coalition, Ministry with Community, 
Open Doors, Kalamazoo Gospel Mission, Recovery Institute, 
South County Community Services, Vine Neighborhood, YWCA, 
Integrated Service of Kalamazoo, and Housing Resources Inc.  

The survey instrument was implemented via Survey Monkey 
on March 20, 2022 and concluded on May 31, 2022. The 
compensation for unhoused individuals’ time to complete the survey 
was a $10 gift card.

Of the total unhoused population from the 2020 annual report, the 
survey received a response rate of 8%.

https://changethestory.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Continuum-of-Care-Annual-Report-2020-Final.pdf


Page 1 of 3 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING made and entered into this _____day of 

___________, 2024 by and between Kalamazoo County, a municipal corporation and political subdivision 

of the State of Michigan (the “County”), and the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 

Authority (the “KCBRA”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, currently the KCBRA does not employ the services of a fulltime Director as 

authorized by MCL 125.2656 (1) (“Director”); 

WHEREAS, the work that is normally done by a Director is currently being performed by the 

County full-time position of Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, with the KCBRA reimbursing the 

County from Tax Increment Financing (TIF), as allowed by law; 

WHEREAS, the KCBRA has the authority pursuant to MCL 125.2656 (1) to employ and fix the 

compensation for the Director;  

WHEREAS, the KCBRA has the need for and the ability to fund a fulltime director but does not 

have the ability to supervise the day-to-day activities of said Director;  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, IT 

IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the parties as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF WORK. The County shall provide the services of the Brownfield Redevelopment

Administrator to fulfill the duties of the Director (and shall be referred to as Director in this Agreement).  

The Director is responsible for managing all KCBRA projects and finances, staffing KCBRA meetings 

along with all other essential functions of the position as described in the Brownfield Redevelopment 

Administrator Job Description attached to this Agreement, labeled Exhibit A, which is incorporated by 

reference.   

2. FUNDING RESPONSIBILITIES. The KCBRA shall fund 100% of this position from TIF

funds, including the cost of any and all employment benefits provided in County policies, income taxes, 

payroll taxes, and contributions.  In the event funds are not allocated or available this Agreement will be 

deemed terminated without further notice.   The Director will remain a County employee and shall be 

entitled to the same employment benefits as other similarly situated County employees. 

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND SUPERVISION; REPLACEMENT.

a. The County is responsible for the following:

a. Selecting the proposed Director using its customary hiring practices. Member(s) of the

KCBRA will be part of the interview team, and the KCBRA may make a recommendation

to the County.

b. Supervising the  day-to-day activities of the Director.

Item 7 b



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

c. Reassignment of job duties as it deems necessary, which could include terminating the 

services or employment of the Director.   

d. Assigning additional responsibilities to the Director on a time-available basis, which may 

not be related to the KCBRA.  The County is responsible for the cost of work not related 

to the KCBRA.   

e. Paying and providing employment benefits to the Director  

 

b. The KCBRA is responsible for the following:   

a. Paying the entire cost of employment of the Director.   

b. Providing feedback to the County regarding the performance of the Director, which may 

include performance evaluation(s).   

c. Providing written notice to the County if it does not intend to continue the services of the 

Director.   

d. Providing goals and objectives to the Director.  

 

4. COMPENSATION. Subject to the funding provided for in Section 2 above, the County will be 

responsible for the payment of all wages, employment benefits, taxes, and contributions with respect to 

Director, from the appropriate accounts dedicated to brownfield funding per the Uniform Chart of 

Accounts. The County shall prepare and provide expenditure and receipt reports if requested.   

 

5. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall commence on __________, 2024 and will continue 

through ____________.  This Agreement may be terminated with or without cause by either party upon 

ninety (90) days written notice.  If terminated for any reason, the KCBRA will remain responsible for the 

cost of the Director during the ninety (90) day notice period.   

 

6. NONDISCRIMINATION. The parties, as required by law, shall not discriminate against a person 

to be served or an employee or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or 

privileges of employment, or matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of race, color, 

religion, national origin, age, sex, disability that is unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform the 

duties of a particular job or position, height, weight, marital status, gender identity, political affiliation or 

beliefs. The parties shall adhere to all applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules and 

regulations prohibiting discrimination, including, but not limited to, the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act, 

1975 PA 453 amended; the Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act, 1976 PA 220 as amended; Section 

504 of the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as amended, P.L. 93-112, 87 Stat 355 as amended, the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, P.L. 101-336, 104 Stat 327 (42 USCA § 12101 et seq), as 

amended, and regulations promulgated thereunder. Breach of this section shall be regarded as a material 

breach of the Agreement. 

 

7. NOTICES. Any notice required to be given pursuant to the terms and provisions of this 

Agreement shall be in writing and will be sent by first class mail or email to the County Administrator, 

and to the Chair of the KCBRA. 

 

8.  WAIVERS. No failure or delay on the part of the parties to this Agreement in exercising any right, 

power, or privilege shall operate as a waiver nor shall a single or partial exercise of any right, power, or 

privilege preclude any other further exercise of any other rights, power, or privilege. 

 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

9. MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT. Modifications, amendments, or waivers of any provision 

of this Agreement may be made only by the written mutual consent of the parties. 

10. DISREGARDING TITLES.  The titles of the sections set forth in this Agreement are inserted 

for the convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded when construing or interpreting any of the 

provisions of this Agreement. 

 

11. COMPLETE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and any additional or supplemental documents 

incorporated by specific reference contains all the terms and conditions agreed by the parties, and no other 

agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Agreement or any part thereof, shall 

have any validity or bind any party. 

 

12. NON-BENEFICIARY CONTRACT. This Agreement is not intended to be a third party 

beneficiary contract and confers no rights on anyone other than the parties hereto.  The Director shall have 

no rights to enforce this Agreement.   

 

13.  INVALID PROVISIONS. If any clause or provision of this Agreement is rendered invalid or 

unenforceable because of any state or federal statute or regulation or ruling by any tribunal of competent 

jurisdiction, that clause or provision shall be null and void, any such invalidity or unenforceability shall 

not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement. Where the deletion of the 

invalid or unenforceable clause or provision would result in the illegality and/or unenforceability of this 

Agreement, this Agreement shall be considered to have terminated as of the date in which the provision 

was rendered invalid or unenforceable. 

 

14.  CERTIFICATION OF AUTHORITY TO SIGN AGREEMENT. The persons signing this 

Agreement on behalf of the parties certify by their signatures that they are duly authorized to sign this 

Agreement on behalf of said parties and that this Agreement has been authorized by said parties. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the authorized representatives of the parties have signed this 

instrument on the day and year first above written. 

 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY: 

 

____________________________________   __________________ 

                    , Chairperson      Date 

Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners        

 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY: 

 

______________________________    ____________________ 

  , Chairperson       Date 

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO:  

COHL, STOKER & TOSKEY, P.C. 

By:            

On:   

N:\Client\Kalamazoo\Agrs\Brownfield Redevelopment Authority\MOU for Administrator\2024-046_DRAFT MOU for Brownfield Redevelopment Admin position funded by KCBRA_6.11.24 r1.docx 



February 19, 2025 
Project No. 221755 

Macy Rose Walters, MPA  
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Planning & Development Department 
Kalamazoo County 
201 W Kalamazoo Ave 
Kalamazoo MI 49007 

Request for Reimbursement 
Midlink Business Park – Schupan & Sons, Inc., 5200 East Cork Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan 

By my signature below, I certify that the expenses described in this Request for Reimbursement for the 
above-referenced property represent eligible expenses under the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act (1996 PA 
381), as amended, and that the activities have been performed on the eligible property. 

All activities described in the reimbursement request have been completed as described in the Midlink Business Park 
Brownfield Plan Amendment #4 adopted by the Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners on November 21, 2023. 
The Schupan & Sons, Inc. (Schupan) portion of the project involved redeveloping two vacant parcels within the Midlink 
Business Park into a 103,000-square-foot warehouse/light manufacturing building.  

In March 2023 – April 2024, Schupan funded the completion of public infrastructure and site preparation activities. The 
total amount of eligible activities completed is $1,389,500. The amount eligible for reimbursement is limited by the 
Third Amendment to the Brownfield Development and Reimbursement Agreement for the Midlink Business Park 
Redevelopment to $1,272,239. A description of the work activities completed is shown in the enclosed table. An 
application and certification for payment for the eligible activities detailing the work completed is provided. Proof of 
payment for the application and certification for payment is also enclosed, including lien waivers from subcontractors 
and a notarized AIA document. Consistent with the Amended Brownfield Plan and Amended Development and 
Reimbursement Agreement, Fishbeck recommends approval of $1,272,239 for reimbursement. 

Reimbursements should be forwarded to:  Green Aluminum, LLC 
3400 Covington Road 
Kalamazoo, Michigan 49001 
Attn: Gary Curtis  

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 269.544.6966 or 
lmulholland@fishbeck.com. 

Sincerely, 

Logan Mulholland 

Brownfield Project Analyst 

Item 7 c i

mailto:lmulholland@fishbeck.com


Appendix 1 
 

 

 

  



Midlink Business Park - Schupan

5631 Park Circle Ct

DATE OF BROWNFIELD PLAN: 11/21/2023

LLM

2/12/2025

CONTINGENCY: 15 % (not to exceed 15%)

1.00 Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) - Statutorily Approved

1.01 Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments $8,000.00 $8,000.00

1.02 Baseline Environmental Assessment $0.00 $0.00

1.03 Asbestos, Lead and Mold Surveys $0.00 $0.00

1.04 Pre-Demolition Survey $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $8,000.00 $8,000.00

$8,000.00 $8,000.00 -$       

5.00 Public Infrastructure Improvements

5.01 $122,000.00 $122,000.00 5.01 4/30/2024 70,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Streets, roads X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.02 $0.00 $0.00

5.03 $0.00 $0.00

5.04 $0.00 $0.00

5.05 $0.00 $0.00

5.06 $0.00 $0.00

5.07 $0.00 $0.00

5.08 $348,964.00 $348,964.00 5.08 4/30/2024 348,000.00$     AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Water mains X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.09 $25,200.00 $25,200.00 5.09 4/30/2024 25,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Curb and gutter X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.10 $42,000.00 $42,000.00 5.10 4/30/2024 42,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Sanitary sewer mains X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.11 $0.00 $0.00 5.11 4/30/2024 9,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Landscaping X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.12 $0.00 $0.00

5.13 $0.00 $0.00

5.14 $0.00 $0.00

5.15 $0.00 $0.00

5.16 $0.00 $0.00

5.17 Urban Storm Water Management Systems (Traditional) $56,000.00 $56,000.00 5.17 4/30/2024 56,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Storm Water X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

5.18 Urban Storm Water Management Systems (Low Impact Design) $0.00 $0.00

5.19 Publicly Owned Utilities $0.00 $0.00

5.20 $0.00 $0.00

5.21 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

Sub-Total $604,164.00 $604,164.00

15% $90,625.00 $90,625.00

$694,789.00 $694,789.00 550,000.00$     

9.00 Site Preparation

9.01 $70,000.00 $70,000.00 9.01 4/30/2024 60,000.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Clearing and Grubbing X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

9.02 $0.00 $0.00

9.03 $365,000.00 $365,000.00

9.04 $0.00 $0.00

9.05 $0.00 $0.00

9.06 $0.00 $0.00

9.07 $0.00 $0.00

9.08 $0.00 $0.00

9.09 $0.00 $0.00

9.10 $0.00 $0.00 9.10 4/30/2024 410,000.00$     AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Grading/Gravel X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

9.11 $0.00 $0.00 9.11 4/30/2024 356,000.00$     AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Land Balancing X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

9.12 $0.00 $0.00

9.13 $0.00 $0.00

9.14 $0.00 $0.00

9.15 $8,000.00 $8,000.00

9.16 $0.00 $0.00

9.17 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 9.17 4/30/2024 13,500.00$       AIA #10 James E Fulton and Sons, Inc Temporary Erosion Control X Certified AIA, Subcontractor Lien Waivers

9.18 $0.00 $0.00

9.19 $0.00 $0.00

9.20 $0.00 $0.00

9.21 $0.00 $0.00

9.22 $0.00 $0.00

9.23 $35,000.00 $35,000.00

Sub-Total $493,000.00 $493,000.00

15% $73,950.00 $73,950.00

$566,950.00 $566,950.00 839,500.00$     

10.00 Development of Brownfield Plan and/or Work Plan

10.01 Development of Brownfield Plan $2,500.00 $2,500.00

10.02 Development of Act 381 Work Plan $0.00 $0.00

10.03 Work Plan and/or Brownfield Plan Implementation $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $2,500.00 $2,500.00

$2,500.00 $2,500.00 -$      

*Reimbursement Agreement limits reimbursement to: 1,272,239.00$      

1,272,239.00$       Total Potential Brownfield Plan Eligible Costs $1,272,239.00

Transit-Oriented Development or Property

Dredging in Waterways

Category Total Total
Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice Proof of Payment Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Local 

Only

Local and 

School

Excavation for Unstable Material 

Actual Costs Incurred

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

Contractor Note:

 Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

 Invoiced Amt Invoice #
Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional)

Fill  

Bike paths

Bridges

Lighting

Signage

Storm sewers

Water mains

Curb and gutter

Cut & Fill Operations

Total

Streets, roads

Sidewalks

Local 

Only

Local and 

School
Category Total

 Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Proof of Payment

1,389,500.00$  

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Local 

Only

Local and 

School

Local 

Only

Local and 

School

Category Total Total

Temporary Erosion Control

Sanitary sewer mains

Landscaping

Marinas

Boardwalks

Park/Seating areas

Public rail lines

Vertical, Underground or Integrated Parking Structure

Dewatering   

Land Balancing

Relocation of Active Utilities

Retaining Walls

Grading

Clearing and Grubbing

Compaction & Sub-base Preparation

Solid Waste Disposal

Staking

Temporary Construction Access and/or Roads

Contingency

Temporary Facility 

Temporary Sheeting/Shoring

Temporary Site Control

Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional)

Foundation Work to address Special Soil Concerns

Geotechnical Engineering  

Temporary Traffic Control

Specific and Unique Activities

Category Total Total

PROJECT TITLE:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

PREPARED BY:

DATE PREPARED:

Contingency

Brownfield Plan Approved Estimated Costs

Printed 2/19/2025





Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
Site Preparation Eligible ActivitiesPublic Infrastructure Eligible Activities

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle



Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle

Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Rectangle



Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#10















Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#9

































Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#8



































Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#7

































Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#6

















Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#5











Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#4









Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#3









Logan Mulholland - Fishbeck
Text Box
AIA#2

















Memo 

TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Therese Searles, Senior Brownfield Specialist 

DATE: February 27, 2025 

RE: General/LBRF Funding Updates 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 

related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

1. General Environmental Review

Project No: 230454 – W.O. 2023-1 and W.O. 2024-1

Update:

General Review: This month’s invoice for consideration includes reimbursement review of the Delta

Marriott project, LC Howard review, and planning for the LBRF retreat.

Administrative Support: KCBRA has tasked Fishbeck with attending the monthly Kalamazoo County Land

Bank Authority (KCLBA) meetings and reporting back to the KCBRA board on key takeaways that may be

of interest to the Brownfield Authority. Expenses for Fishbeck attendance of the January 9th KCLBA

meeting are included in this month invoice for consideration. Those meeting updates were provided

last month. The February 13, 2025 land bank meeting was canceled.

2. YWCA – 550 S. Riverview, Parchment, Michigan

Project No: 231417 – W.O. 2023-2

Update:

The approved scope of services supported through the KCBRA is nearing completion. Fishbeck

completed the final performance monitoring event to complete the one-year post-installation

performance monitoring in early February. During this on-site monitoring event, Fishbeck also

completed training with YWCA staff on how to access the online portal for monitoring and on record

retention needs. Fishbeck is finalizing a final report, the Operations Maintenance and Monitoring

Plan, that will be provided to YWCA, with a copy furnished to the KCBRA. Following comple6on of

these steps, Fishbeck will essen6ally be “handing over the keys” of the system to YWCA. It is

an6cipated that all KCBRA funded services will be complete by early March.

3. Habitat for Humanity Cooper Township Residential Site, 1865 Colby Avenue

Project No:200252 – W.O. 2025-2

Update:

Item 7 d i



Memo – General/LBRF Updates and Invoices 

February 27, 2025  Fishbeck | Page 2 

 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2025\FEBRUARY 27, 

2025\KCBRA GENERAL AND LBRF FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 2-27-25.DOCX 

 

The KCBRA approved a project application last month from Habitat for Humanity (Habitat) seeking 

funding support to conduct a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) and a Ground Penetrating 

Radar Survey (GPR) for a residential property located at 1865 Colby Avenue in Cooper Township that 

Habitat wishes to purchase from the Kalamazoo County Land Bank Authority. The residential structure 

has been demolished and it is unknown whether buried demolition debris remains on site that could 

complicate redevelopment. Fishbeck has initiated services and is working through site access and 

questionnaire communications. 

 



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

02/27/2025

Page 1 of 1

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review (2023) 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   420292 2/16/2023 $160.00

421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $2,147.75

424170 6/8/2023 $2,226.61

425333 7/12/2023 $2,294.95

426213 8/7/2023 $806.25

427541 9/7/2023 $1,420.00

429022 10/9/2023 $963.75

429750 11/2/2023 $652.50

431430 12/7/2023 $585.00

432686 1/9/2024 $365.00

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   $11,936.81 $2,063.19

Contractual Administrative (2023) 6,000.00$   6,000.00$   421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $288.75

432686 1/9/2024 $679.50

Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$   6,000.00$   $1,283.25 $4,716.75

2023 Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $13,220.06 $6,779.94

230454 2024-1 General Environmental Review (2024) 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   433684 2/13/2024 $1,142.50

434692 3/12/2021 $627.50

435834 4/10/2024 $1,120.00

436931 5/13/2024 $922.50

438958 6/18/2024 $1,772.00

439225 7/9/2024 $800.00

441203 8/13/2024 $1,138.00
442374 9/12/2024 $2,024.75

443527 10/11/2024 $1,690.00

444673 11/7/2024 $1,205.00

445828 12/4/2024 $212.50

447349 1/14/2025 $683.24

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   $13,337.99 $662.01

Contractual Administrative (2024) 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   

441203 8/13/2024 $210.00

442374 9/12/2024 $273.00

443527 10/11/2024 $220.50

444673 11/7/2024 $351.05

445828 12/4/2024 $375.00

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   $1,429.55 $1,570.45

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

02/27/2025

Page 1 of 1

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

Grand App - EPA Grant Applications 3,000.00$              3,000.00$               

444673 11/7/2024 $717.50

445828 12/4/2024 $2,205.00

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$              3,000.00$               $2,922.50 $77.50

2024 Project Total 20,000.00$            20,000.00$             $17,690.04 $2,309.96

230454 2025-1 General Environmental Review (2025) 20,000.00$            20,000.00$             448686* 2/14/2025 $1,802.50

Phase Subtotal 20,000.00$            20,000.00$             $1,802.50 $18,197.50

Contractual Administrative (2025) 1,000.00$              1,000.00$               448686* 2/14/2025 $220.22

Phase Subtotal 1,000.00$              1,000.00$               $220.22 $779.78

2025 Project Total $21,000.00 $21,000.00 $2,022.72 $18,977.28

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight

W.O. Approved   

Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$              3,000.00$               05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $10,565.50 $10,565.50

Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $10,425.50 $10,425.50

Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $8,763.00 $8,763.00

Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$              6,500.00$               05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $7,653.00 $7,653.00

Budget adjustment to bring approved budget current 5-19-23 (6,292.00)$             (6,292.00)$              05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $6,864.25 $6,864.25

Project Subtotal 13,208.00$            13,208.00$             05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $6,829.25 $6,829.25

06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $6,803.00 $6,803.00

06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $6,671.75 $6,671.75

06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $6,461.75 $6,461.75

06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $6,348.00 $6,348.00

06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $6,295.50 $6,295.50

06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $6,190.50 $6,190.50

 06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $6,111.75 $6,111.75

06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $6,059.25 $6,059.25

06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $5,613.00 $5,613.00

07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $5,061.75 $5,061.75

07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $4,878.00 $4,878.00



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

02/27/2025

Page 1 of 1

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $4,232.27 $4,232.27

07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $3,786.02 $3,786.02

07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $3,484.25 $3,484.25

07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $3,081.75 $3,081.75

07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $3,055.50 $3,055.50

07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $2,976.75 $2,976.75

08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $2,950.50 $2,950.50

08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $2,898.00 $2,898.00

08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $2,871.75 $2,871.75

08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $2,609.25 $2,609.25

08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $2,436.75 $2,436.75

09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $2,408.00 $2,408.00

09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $2,350.50 $2,350.50

09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $2,264.25 $2,264.25

09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $1,890.50 $1,890.50

09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $1,660.50 $1,660.50

421239 3/16/2023 $28.75 $1,631.75 $1,631.75

423213 5/10/2023 $86.25 $1,545.50 $1,545.50

424171 6/8/2023 $1,437.50 $108.00 $108.00

Project Subtotal $13,100.00 $108.00

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00

W.O. Approved 40,000.00$            $40,000.00 05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50

05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00

06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00

06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00

'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00

06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00

06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75

06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75

06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50

06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50

06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75

06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75

06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25

07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75

07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00

07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50

07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00

07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00

07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00

07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75

08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50

08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50

08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75

08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00

08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25

09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

422268 4/17/2023 $28.75 $30,346.25 $30,346.25

Project Subtotal $9,653.75 $30,346.25



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

02/27/2025

Page 1 of 1

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03

210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$            21,000.00$             08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02

09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$            $15,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53

08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$              $3,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50

08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49

09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$              $3,000.00

$0.00 $3,000.00

231417 2023-2 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment - VMS Installation 100,000.00$          $100,000.00 434709 3/13/2024 $87,897.02 $22,102.98 $22,102.98

BT2 LBRF funding -Amendment March 2024 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 231417 4/10/2024 $1,384.65 $20,718.33 $20,718.33

439172 7/8/2024 $537.50 $20,180.83 $20,180.83

443511 10/10/2024 $437.55 $19,743.28 $19,743.28

445436 12/4/2024 $115.00 $19,628.28 $19,628.28

448166* 2/10/2025 $4,534.50 $15,093.78 $15,093.78

$110,000 $110,000.00 Project Subtotal $94,906.22 $15,093.78

240058 2023-3 Clarklogic Development at W. Williard Street, Kalamazoo, MI 24,000.00$            $24,000.00 433674 2/12/2024 $13,707.93

LBRF Funding 435843 4/10/2024 $10,292.07

Project Subtotoal $24,000.00 $0.00



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

02/27/2025

Page 1 of 1

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

2500252 2025-2 KCBRA/Habitat for Humanity - Cooper Twp. 5,100.00$              5,100.00$               448692* 2/14/2025 $285.25 $4,814.75 $4,814.75

Project Subtoal $285.25 $4,814.75

Phase I ESA 3,000.00$              $3,000.00 448692 2/14/2025 $218.25 $2,781.75 $2,781.75

$218.25 $2,781.75

GPR Survey 2,100.00$              $2,100.00 448692 2/147/2025 $67.00

$67.00 $2,033.00

Total Project Budgets $274,308.00 $274,308.00  Total $189,046.02 $85,261.98



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Therese Searles, Senior Brownfield Specialist 

DATE: February 27, 2025 

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant.  

1. Community Outreach and Programmatic
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2, Amendment No. 4 

Update: 

Preparation of meeting materials and preparation of the quarterly report were completed this month. Annual 
updates to the QAPP were also initiated and billed under the programmatic task as the QAPP task is out of 
budget.  

2. J. Smith Laundry and Apartments, 802 N. Westnedge Ave., 438 and 442 W. Frank St., Kalamazoo, Michigan
Project No: 241171 – W.O. 18. Amendment No. 1

Update: 

Jeremiah Smith Enterprises 2, LLC desires to acquire and develop the three undeveloped parcels, located at 802 
N. Westnedge Avenue, 438 and 442 W. Frank Street, into J. Smith Laundry and Apartments. Most recently the 
project has been described as Northside Laundry. Mr. Smith has a Letter of Intent in place and has site control of 
the property.  It is anticipated that development activities would commence in Spring of 2025 with an anticipated 
completion date of Spring 2026.  

The initial Work Order #18 was approved in June to authorize preparation of U.S. EPA eligibility, and a Phase I 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA). Phase I ESA & Phase II ESA activities were previously completed in 2013 
based upon multiple concerns including historical automotive service operations, the presence of fill material, and 
adjoining properties.  Phase II ESA sampling in 2013 resulted in the identification of PNAs in soil in excess of 
current EGLE cleanup criteria.  Amendment No. 1 to Work Order 18 was approved by the KCBRA board in July to 
conduct a Phase II ESA, preparation of a BEA and Due Care documentation, and preparation of a Brownfield Plan.  
Concurrence on site eligibility from the USEPA took much longer than anticipated, but was received on August 15, 
2024. The Phase I ESA is complete and identified two Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs): The historical 
use of the Subject Property as an automotive repair and service business from 1998 to 2009 was identified as an 
REC. Also, the presence of fill material on the Subject Property and the 2013 identification of select PNAs in soil at 
levels exceeding current Part 201 GRCC was identified as an REC. 

Item 7 d ii



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
February 27, 2025  Fishbeck | Page 2 

 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2025\FEBRUARY 27, 
2025\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 2-27-25.DOCX 

The Phase II ESA sampling of soil, groundwater, and soil gas has been completed, and the report has been 
finalized. The presence of petroleum-based VOCs and metals in soil and groundwater above EGLE cleanup criteria 
demonstrates that the parcels meet the definition of a “facility” as defined by Part 201 of NREPA. The “facility” 
designation indicates that the preparation of a BEA will be applicable to a new owner/operator of the parcels in 
order to obtain an exemption to remedial liability for pre-existing contaminant conditions and that “due care” 
considerations will be applicable going forward.  

Meetings regarding Brownfield planning and the overall project status have occurred with Jeremiah Smith, his 
development partners, the City of Kalamazoo, Fishbeck, KCBRA staff, and EGLE.  EGLE has reviewed the provided 
environmental reports and has indicated the risk is small and manageable. Predevelopment funding is still being 
secured and other phases of the project are on hold until this funding is secured.   

 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 1 of 6

Activity  Budget Estimates 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount
Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$           

Task 1 - Phase I ESAs 45,000.00$             27,742.80$                        $         17,257.20 

Task 2 - Phase II ESAs and BEA/DC 204,000.00$           166,847.29$                       $         37,152.71 
Task 3 - Brownfield Plans 36,000.00$             65,778.24$                        $       (29,778.24)

Task 4 - Community Outrach, Programmatic, Travel 15,000.00$             21,552.89$                        $         (6,552.89)
281,921.22$                       $         18,078.78 

County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$               -$                                  1,200.00$           
County 4 Travel 6,000.00$               KCBRA Travel 5,072.56$                         927.44$              
County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$               -$                                  1,500.00$           
County 4 Other -$                        -$                                  

County Subtotal 8,700.00$               County Subtotal 5,072.56$                         County Subtotal 3,627.44$           

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$           -$                                  -$                    

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$               Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$                             
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$                         
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$                            
435839 4/10/2024 237.54$                            
436942 5/13/2024 59.39$                              
438963 6/18/2024 190.40$                            
439230 7/9/2024 108.67$                            

Project Subtotal 2,600.00$                         Project Subtotal 2,600.00$           
Budget Returned 2,400.00$           

-$                    
Invoice Breakdown

1 2 Initial Preparation 2,004.00$               
08272 11/10/2021 118.50$                            
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$                         
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$                            

Phase Subtotal 2,004.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

210220 1 2 QAPP - ANNUAL UPDATES 596.00$                  Invoice Total 435839 4/10/2024 237.54$                            
436942 5/13/2024 59.39$                              
438963 6/18/2024 190.40$                            

Invoice Total 439230 7/9/2024 108.67$                            
Project Subtotal 596.00$                            Phase Subtotal -$                    

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$               Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$                             
Amendment #1 (approved 5-25-23) 2,500.00$               08841 4/8/2022 104.56$                            
Amendment #2 (approved 11-16-23) 4,300.00$               08977 5/10/2022 359.38$                            
Amendment #3 4,000.00$               09127 6/13/2022 341.14$                            
Amendment #4 4,800.00$               09389 8/18/2022 209.13$                            

18,100.00$             09619 10/12/2022 41.83$                              
09745 11/9/2022 352.93$                            
09857 12/12/2022 345.06$                            
09921 1/5/2023 73.20$                              
420295 2/16/2023 189.15$                            
421240 3/16/2023 66.05$                              
423211 5/10/2023 625.56$                            
424176 6/8/2023 334.25$                            
425337 7/12/2023 286.50$                            
426222 8/7/2023 1,093.13$                         
427546 9/7/2023 334.25$                            
429749 11/2/2023 1,024.11$                         
431429 12/7/2023 209.58$                            
432665 1/8/2024 334.25$                            
433683 2/13/2024 801.25$                            
434691 3/12/2024 382.00$                            
435833 4/10/2024 286.50$                            
436929 5/13/2024 1,053.23$                         
438957 6/18/2024 320.94$                            
439223 7/9/2024 382.00$                            

Invoice Total 441202 8/13/2024 1,698.71$                         
Invoice Total 442361 9/12/2024 734.83$                            
Invoice Total 444752 11/11/2024 1,182.68$                         
Invoice Total 447348 1/14/2025 2,087.83$                         
Invoice Total 448685* 2/14/2025 1,094.28$                         

Project Subtotal 16,480.33$                       Project Subtotal 1,619.67$           

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$             Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                       X

08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$                         
08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                            

09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$                         
Project Subtotal 15,018.03$                       Project Subtotal 2,676.98$           

Budget Returned 2,676.98$           
Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown
 2 Phase II 12,895.00$             08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                        

  08842 4/8/2022 1,489.25$                          

Phase Subtotal 12,313.15$                       Phase Subtotal 581.85$              

   

  2 BEA & Due Care 4,000.00$               08842 4/8/2022 1,531.93$                          

08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                            

09513 9/16/2022 216.80$                            

Phase Subtotal 1,904.88$                         Phase Subtotal 2,095.12$           

1 Phase I ESA Update 800.00$                  09513 9/16/2022 800.00$                            

Phase Subtotal 800.00$                            Phase Subtotal -$                    

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 52,850.00$             Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$                            X

09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$                       
09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$                         
09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$                         
09663 11/3/2022 875.04$                            
09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                         
09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                         
421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                       

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$                       Project Subtotal 446.00$              
Budget Returned 446.00$              

Invoice Breakdown -$                    
 2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$              

  09243 7/12/2022 324.13$                             

09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$                         

09409 9/7/2022 151.63$                            

09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$                         

09663 11/3/2022 216.34$                            

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$                         Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$           

Grant 

Task

Number

Project Complete Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 2 of 6

   

  2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$              

Amendment #1 7,000.00$               09243 7/12/2022 290.16$                            

Amendment #2 5,500.00$               09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$                         

41,850.00$             09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$                         

09636 10/21/2022 671.78$                            

09663 11/3/2022 658.70$                            

09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                         

09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                         

421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                       

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$                       Phase Subtotal (703.53)$             

220129 4 1,2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$             Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$                         X

09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$                       

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                         

09637 10/21/2022 460.06$                            

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$                              

Project Subtotal 16,758.16$                       Project Subtotal 8,241.84$           

Budget Returned 8,241.84$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

 1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$                

  09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$                          

09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$                         

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                         

09637 10/21/2022 248.33$                            

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$                         Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$          

   

  2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$              

09245 7/12/2022 154.23$                            

09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$                         

09637 10/21/2022 211.73$                            

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$                              

Phase Subtotal 9,748.17$                         Phase Subtotal 9,251.83$           

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$             Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$                         X

Amendment #1 2,000.00$               09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$                         
22,000.00$             09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$                         

09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$                         
09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$                         
09922 1/5/2023 400.46$                            
420293 2/16/2023 115.95$                            
421241 3/16/2023 573.53$                            

422260 4/13/2023 945.75$                            
423212 5/10/2023 1,214.35$                         
426223 8/7/2023 3,109.00$                         

Project Subtotal 22,000.00$                       Project Subtotal -$                    

230922 7 2,3 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 8,000.00$               X

424169 6/8/2023 548.40$                            

Project Subtotal 548.40$                            Project Subtotal 7,451.60$           

Budget Returned 7,451.60$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

   Invoice Breakdown

2 Eligibilty and Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               424169 6/8/2023 548.40$                            

Phase Subtotal 548.40$                            Phase Subtotal 4,451.60$           

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

230924 8 1,2,3 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 30,000.00$             Invoice Total 424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                         X

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                         

426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                            

427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                            

429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                         

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$                       

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$                         

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$                         

Project Subtotal 26,000.00$                       Project Subtotal 4,000.00$           

Budget Returned 4,000.00$           

  Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

1 Eligibilty and Phase I 4,000.00$               424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                         

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                         

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Phase II 18,000.00$             426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                            

Budget Adjustment (approved 1-18-2024) 4,000.00$               427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                            

22,000.00$             429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                         

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$                       

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$                         

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$                         

Phase Subtotal 22,000.00$                       Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Bea/Due Care 4,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan 4,000.00$               

Budget Adjustment to support expanded scope of PII (1-18-24) (4,000.00)$              

-$                        Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 3 of 6

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 15,000.00$             Invoice Total 424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                            X

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                            

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                         

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                         

429203 10/10/2023 546.65$                            

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$                         

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$                            

Project Subtotal 6,140.85$                         Project Subtotal 1,859.15$           

Budget Returned 1,859.15$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00$               424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                            

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                            

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                         

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                         

429203 10/9/2023 546.65$                            

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$                         

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$                            

Phase Subtotal 6,140.85$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 7,000.00$           

Phase Budget Returned 7,000.00$           

Phase Budget Remaining -$                    

230923 10,14 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 12,500.00$             Invoice Total 424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                            X

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                         

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                            

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                            

429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                         

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$                            

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$                              

Project Subtotal 6,537.20$                         Project Subtotal 2,819.33$           

Budget Returned 2,819.33$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

10 3 Project Planning Associated with Plan Amendment 6,500.00$               424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                            

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                         

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                            

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,356.53$                         Phase Subtotal 3,143.47$           

Phase Budget Returned 3,143.47$           

` Phase Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

14 3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 6,000.00$               429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                         

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$                            

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$                              

Phase Subtotal 3,180.67$                         Phase Subtotal 2,819.33$           

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment 23,250.00$             Invoice Total 428218 9/18/2023 1,230.54$                         X

429320 10/12/2023 4,757.52$                         

429752 11/2/2023 2,693.54$                         

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$                         

432668 1/8/2024 1,857.40$                         

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$                            

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$                              

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$                              

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$                              

Project Subtotal 14,165.08$                       Project Subtotal 219.61$              

Budget Returned 219.61$              

Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

3 Eligibility / HASP/ SAP/ Project Management 3,000.00$               428218 9/18/2023 882.23$                            

Phase Subtotal 882.23$                            Phase Subtotal 2,117.77$           

Phase Budget Returned* 2,117.77$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 PFE Testing 5,250.00$               428218 9/18/2023 348.31$                            

429320 10/12/2023 4,150.34$                         

429752 11/2/2023 122.11$                            

432668 1/8/2024 518.94$                            

Phase Subtotal   5,139.70$                         Phase Subtotal 110.30$              

Phase Budget Returned* 110.30$              

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 VMS Design 15,000.00$             429320 10/12/2023 607.18$                            

429752 11/2/2023 2,571.43$                         

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$                         

432668 1/8/2024 1,338.46$                         

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$                            

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$                              

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$                              

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$                              

Phase Subtotal 8,143.15$                         Phase Subtotal 6,856.85$           

Phase Budget Returned* 6,637.24$           

Phase Budget Returned* 219.61$              

Phase Bdget Remaining (0.00)$                 

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 11,200.00$             Invoice Total 427548 9/7/2023 4,887.17$                         X

429026 10/9/2023 1,200.18$                         

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                              

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                            

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                            

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                            

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                              

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                            

Invoice Total 441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                              

Project Subtotal 7,213.14$                         Project Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Budget Returned 1,943.76$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 3,200.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,752.09$                         

429026 10/9/2023 447.91$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,200.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 4 of 6

2 ASB -  Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,135.08$                         

429026 10/9/2023 752.27$                            

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                              

Phase Subtotal   2,956.90$                         Phase Subtotal 2,043.10$           

Phase Budget Returned* 2,043.10$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 BP Eval - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                            

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                            

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                            

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                              

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                            

441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                              

Phase Subtotal 1,056.24$                         Phase Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Phase Budget Returned* 1,943.76$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 22,500.00$             Invoice Total 427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                            X

429030 10/9/2023 479.03$                            

429759 11/2/2023 4,648.57$                         

431439 12/7/2023 4,002.89$                         

432673 1/8/2024 641.52$                            

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                              

434705 3/12/2024 242.83$                            

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$                            

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$                            

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$                            

442376 9/12/2024 764.79$                            

Project Subtotal 12,568.11$                       Project Subtotal 31.57$                

Budget Returned 31.57$                

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

3 Response Activity Plan/Conceptual Site Model 17,500.00$             427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                            

429030 10/9/2023 143.25$                            

429759 11/2/2023 4,529.19$                         

431439 12/7/2023 1,577.81$                         

432673 1/8/2024 276.04$                            

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                              

434705 3/12/2024 212.44$                            

Phase Subtotal 7,599.68$                         Phase Subtotal 9,900.32$           

Phase Budget Returned* 9,900.32$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

429030 10/9/2023 335.78$                            

429759 11/2/2023 119.38$                            

431439 12/7/2023 2,425.08$                         

432673 1/8/2024 365.48$                            

434705 3/12/2024 30.39$                              

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$                            

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$                            

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$                            

442376 9/12/2024 764.79$                            

3 Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00$               Phase Subtotal 4,968.43$                         Phase Subtotal 31.57$                

Budget Returned 31.57$                

Budget Remaining -$                    

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 16,200.00$             Invoice Total 429758 11/2/2023 337.40$                            X

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$                         

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$                         

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$                            

434704 3/12/2024 493.89$                            

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$                            

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$                         

Project Subtotal 5,268.41$                         Project Subtotal 6,847.80$           

Budget Returned 6,000.00$           

Budget Returned 847.80$              

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

2 Eligibility/HASP/SAP/HMI 7,200.00$               

429758 11/2/2023 337.40$                            

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$                         

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$                         

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,116.21$                         Phase Subtotal 4,083.79$           

Phase Budget Returned* 4,083.79$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               434704 3/12/2024 493.89$                            

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$                            

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$                         

Phase Subtotal 2,152.20$                         Phase Subtotal 847.80$              

Phase Budget Returned* 847.80$              

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$           

Budget Returned 6,000.00$           

Budget Remaining -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 5 of 6

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 44,000.00$             Invoice Total 429751 11/2/2023 709.55$                            X

431431 12/7/2023 14,104.00$                       

432667 1/8/2024 9,832.64$                         

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$                            

Project Subtotal 25,223.18$                       Project Subtotal 18,776.82$         

Budget Returned 18,776.82$         

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 4,000.00$               

429751 11/2/2023 661.80$                            

431431 12/7/2023 2,540.41$                         

432667 1/8/2024 797.79$                            

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Phase II ESA/HASP/SAP 18,500.00$             431431 12/7/2023 8,117.24$                         

432667 1/8/2024 7,970.09$                         

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$                            

Phase Subtotal 16,664.32$                       Phase Subtotal 1,835.68$           

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 7,000.00$               

429751 11/2/2023 47.75$                              

431431 12/7/2023 3,446.35$                         

432667 1/8/2024 1,064.76$                         

Phase Subtotal 4,558.86$                         Phase Subtotal 2,441.14$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,500.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,500.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$           

240812 17 1, 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 25,015.00$             Invoice Total 436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                            X

Invoice Total 438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                         

Invoice Total 441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                            

Invoice Total 442365 9/12/2024 1,950.31$                         

Invoice Total 443453 10/9/2024 11,952.55$                       

Invoice Total 444699 11/7/2024 1,233.43$                         

Project Subtotal 18,513.27$                       Project Subtotal 6,501.73$           

Budget Returned 5,000.00$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining 1,501.73$           

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                            Budget Returned 1,501.73$           

438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                         Budget Remaining -$                    

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

 

2 HMI 4,765.00$               

442365 9/12/2024 450.63$                            

443453 10/9/2024 3,794.09$                         

444699 11/7/2024 108.15$                            

Phase Subtotal 4,352.87$                         Phase Subtotal 412.13$              

.

2 Phase II 12,250.00$             441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                            
442365 9/12/2024 1,499.68$                         
443453 10/9/2024 8,158.46$                         
444699 11/7/2024 1,125.28$                         

Phase Subtotal 11,160.40$                       Phase Subtotal 1,089.60$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$               

  

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,000.00$           

Phase Budget Returned* 5,000.00$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

2/27/2025 
Page 6 of 6

241171 18 1 J. Smith Laundry and Apts -802 N. Westnedge Avenue, 438 & 3,000.00$               

442 W. Frank Street Invoice Total 442368 9/12/2024 2,502.61$                         

Amendment #1 31,495.00$             Invoice Total 443454 10/9/2024 1,931.77$                         

34,495.00$             Invoice Total 444702 11/7/2024 3,871.19$                         

Invoice Total 445837 12/4/2024 5,465.73$                         

Invoice Total 447355 1/14/2025 1,027.43$                         

Invoice Total 448689* 2/14/2025 5,916.87$                         

Project Subtotal 20,715.60$                       Project Subtotal 13,779.40$         

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               442368 9/12/2024 1,763.58$                         

443454 10/9/2024 621.09$                            

444702 11/7/2024 348.14$                            

Phase Subtotal 2,732.81$                         Phase Subtotal 267.19$              

2 Phase II 18,495.00$             442368 9/12/2024 436.72$                            

443454 10/9/2024 894.56$                            

444702 11/7/2024 3,427.77$                         

445837 12/4/2024 4,744.28$                         

447355 1/14/2025 834.30$                            

448689 2/14/2025 5,832.00$                         
Phase Subtotal 16,169.63$                       Phase Subtotal 2,325.37$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$               442368 9/12/2024 82.40$                              

445837 12/4/2024 530.90$                            

447355 1/14/2025 41.20$                              

Phase Subtotal 654.50$                            Phase Subtotal 4,345.50$           

3 Brownfield Plan 8,000.00$               

442368 9/12/2024 219.91$                            

443454 10/9/2024 416.12$                            

444702 11/7/2024 95.28$                              

445837 12/4/2024 190.55$                            

447355 1/14/2025 151.83$                            

448689 2/14/2024 84.87$                              

Phase Subtotal 1,158.56$                         Phase Subtotal 6,841.44$           

241434 19 1 234/238 EM, LLC - 234 and 238 E. Michigan Ave, Kalamazoo 3,000.00$               

Amendment #1 5,695.00$               Invoice Total 444701 11/7/2024 6,696.61$                         

8,695.00$               Invoice Total 445835 12/4/2024 1,998.39$                         

-$                                  

Project Subtotal 8,695.00$                         Project Subtotal -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               

444701 11/7/2024 3,000.00$                         

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 5,695.00$               

444701 11/7/2024 3,696.61$                         

445835 12/4/2024 1,998.39$                         

Phase Subtotal 5,695.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 391,500.01$           Invoice Total 276,848.76$                      Budgets Remaining 15,399.07$         

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining (100,200.01)$          14,451.24$                       

Check 291,300.00$       

Project Budgets Returned 

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$               

230922 7 2 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 7,451.60$               

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 2,400.00$               

230923 10 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 5,962.80$               

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 8,859.15$               

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment* 9,084.92$               

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 446.00$                  

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 3,986.86$               

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 9,931.89$               

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 10,931.59$             

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 18,776.82$             

220129 4 2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 8,241.84$               

230924 8 2 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 4,000.00$               

240812 17 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 5,000.00$               

240812 17 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 1,501.73$               

Available Contractual Budget Remaining (947.83)$                 

Notes:

*Pending

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining 

and un-invoiced 



KCBRA Fund 243 General Fund 2025 Expense Detail

Postage              Contractual ‐ Other Salaries

  Jan‐March Salary R Q1

April‐June Salary M Q1

July‐Sept. Fringe Q1

Oct.‐Dec. Salary R Q2

Total ‐$                 Salary M Q2

Fringe Q2

Printing   Total ‐$                  Salary Q3 R

Jan‐March Salary Q3 M

April‐June Communication ‐ Internal Fringe Q3

July‐Sept. Network Jan.‐March Salary Q4 R

Oct.‐Dec. Network April‐June Salary Q4 M

Total ‐$                 Network July‐Sept. Fringe Q4

Network Oct.‐Dec. Total ‐$

Office Supplies Total ‐$                 

Total ‐$                 Communication 

Contractual Total ‐$                 

Fishbeck 2/14/25 1,802.50$     

Travel

Total 1,802.50$      

Total ‐$                 

Contractual Op.

Fishbeck 2/14/25 220.22$         Marketing

Total 220.22$         

Total ‐$                  

Site Study

Fishbeck 2/14/25 285.25$         Employee Training

Total 285.25$         

Total ‐$                 

Miscellaneous

Total ‐$                 

Indirect Cost alloc.

Total ‐$                 

Interest Expense

Total ‐$                 

Total Expenses 2,307.97$  

KCBRA Admin Account Balance $694,251.86

Estimated KCBRA Fund amounts with Encumbrances & TIR Held for Reimbursements

Fund 243 General Fund $1,882,389.19

Fund 242 LBRF  $4,811,099.26



FUND 243
MWalters 2-21-25

HYBRID 2024 YE & 2025 BEGINNING MUNIS Actual MUNIS Actual

2023 MUNIS BRA TOTAL YEAR END 4,455,282.02

ESTIMATED TOTAL FUND BALANCE AS OF 12/13/24 $7,420,113.74

ESTIMATED 2024 BRA Carry Forward Administrative Fund Balance $691,751.87

ESTIMATED Administrative Fund Balance as of 2/21/25 $694,251.86

BRA Fund 243 for 2024 (Formerly Fund 247) Revenues Expenses

Estimated 

Pending reimb. REV‐EXP

County BRA (acct 24370300‐)  ‐0.01 0.01 MUNIS Actual, Admin Expense (D6)

Dividends 156,574.29 156,574.29

Service Fees (application fee payments) 7,500.00

3rd Party Reimbursements 31,648.51
Midlink local TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.00) 427,550.13 427,550.13

Midlink school TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.01) 492,654.42 492,654

Midlink Admin chg 47,661.95

General Mills local TIR (acct 24370304‐420.00) 109,703.68 102,031.24 7,672

General Mills school TIR (acct 24370304‐420.01) 0

General Mills Admin chg 7,038.16

9008 Portage Road local TIR (acct 24370303‐420.00) 4,411.79 4,159.00 253

9008 Portage Road school TIR (acct 24370303‐420.01) 3,247.64 2,834.64 413

9008 Portage Road Admin Chg 393.91

555 E. Eliza St. Local TIR (24370306‐420.00) 32,328.06 9,717.00 22,611

555 E. Eliza St. School TIR (24370306‐420.01) 6,718.11 283.00 6,435

555 E. Eliza St. Admin Chg 3,195.69

232 LLC (24370307‐420.00)   5,785.97 5,595.01 191

232 LLC Admin. Chg 360.33

Blackbird Billiards local TIR (24370308‐420.00) 2,106.77 1,015.19 1,092

Blackbird Billiards School TIR (24370308‐420.01) 13.83 718.50 ‐704.67

Blackbird Billiards Admin Chg 81.52

Kalamazoo West Prof Ctr Local TIR (24370310‐010)  4,765.48 4,608.20 157.28

Kalamazoo West Admin. Chg 254.14

Metal Mechanics Local TIR (24370311‐420.00) 5,554.31 5,224.57 330

Metal Mechanics School TIR (24370311‐420.01) 0

Metal Mechanics Admin. Chg. 283.26

Scanell/Project Spartan Local TIR (24370318‐420.00) 1,132,432.14 485,127.35 647,305

Scanell/Project Spartan School TIR (24370318‐420.01) 0.00 0

Scanell/Project Spartan Admin. Chg. 5,492.58

Schupan Local 31,749.47

Schupan State 60,107.61

Schupan Admin. Chg 7,019.61

Stryker Local (24370313‐420.00) 488,410.00 216,853.20 271,557

Stryker School (24370313‐420.01) 370,905.67 220,792.00 150,114

Stryker Admin. Chg 2023 TIF in 2024 no admin 

Stadium Park Way Local (24370314‐420.00) 134,880.26 134,880

Stadium Park Way School (24370314‐420.01) 0

Stadium Park Way Admin Chg 3,110.99

383 S. Pitcher St Local TIR (24370315‐420.00) 14,718.20 13,918.09 800

383 S. Pitcher School TIR (24370315‐420.01) 9,524.73 8,317.73 1,207

383 S. Pitcher Admin Chg 1,272.38

Vickburg Mill (24370316)

Vicksburg Mill Admin. Chg

Delta Marriott (24370317) Local TIR 54,491.94

Delta Marriott School TIR 

Delta Marriott Admin. Chg 2,986.45

2 and 10 Mills St. (Environmental Work)

Graphic Packaging Local TIR (24370319‐420.00) 270,711.15 270,711

Graphic Packaging School TIR (24370319‐420.01) 166,589.56 166,590

Graphic Packaging Admin Chg 23,295.13

IPUSA Local TIR (24370320‐420.00) 109,210.46

IPUSA State TIR (24370320‐420.01) 9,381.45

IPUSA Admin. Charge 10,320.76

KALSEE Credit Union Local TIR (24370321‐420.00) 33,855.73 12,133.05

KALSEE Credit Union State TIR (24370321‐420.01) 12,341.49 11,499.46

KALSEE Credit Union Admin. Charge 1,245.89

Landscape Forms, Inc. 6,201.16

615 W. Kalamazoo Ave. (Environmental work) 12,619.63

619 Porter St. (Environmental work) correction from 8/22/24 

BRA ACTUAL TOTAL 2024 AS OF 2/21/24 4,189,872.85 1,225,041.13 ‐  2,964,832 2,964,832 7,420,114

2020‐24 Pending remaining of approved Work Orders & Other Expenses

General Fund

WO#17 ‐ Gen Env. Consulting, Ammend. #1 85 unused in 2017

WO#2018‐1 ‐ General Env. Consulting 20 unused in 2018

WO#19 ‐ Checker Motors MDEQ SSA grant application $1179 + $58 application

WO# 2018‐2  ET Annual Report Assisstance 25 unused in 2018

WO# 2018‐3 Website Assisstance ‐Envirologic 42.5 unused in 2018

Web Hosting (annual expense) 0 Remaining amount in W.O.

WO# 2019‐1 General Environmental Consulting 1,516.25 unused in 2019

WO# 2019‐3 General Env. Review 2018 Annual report 447.50 unused in 2019

WO# 2020‐1 General Environmental Review ET 7,273.75 unused in 2020

WO#2021‐1 General Env. + Admin. Envirologic 16,393.75 unused in 2021

WO#2022‐1 General Environmental + admin 11,722.50 unused in 2022

WO#2023‐1 General Environmental + Admin 6,780.44 unused in 2023

WO #2024‐1 General Environmental + Admin 2,309.96 Remaining amount in W.O.

WO# 2025‐1 General Environmental + Admin 18,977.28 amount remaining in w.o.

WO# 2025‐2 Habitat for Humanity  2,714.75 amount remaining in w.o.

Fund 243 (247) Work Order TOTAL 2,309.96 7,417,804

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Revenues Expenses

Dividends Summary for 2024 172,790 Michigan CLASS $4.6M

440 LLC ‐ Funding Request 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O.

WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Rd General Env. 6,832.02 Remaining amount in W.O. 4,811,099

WO#2023‐2 YWCA VMI system (GRA) 15,093.78 Remaining amount in W.O.

WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street (LRA) 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O.

555 Eliza Street/ Lee Street Expansion (LRA) 394,500.00

WO# 2025‐2 Habitat for Humanity  2,100.00 Remaining amount in W.O.

Fund 242 (643) Work Order Total  418,525.80

420,835.76

Estimated totals for Projects w/ Pending Invoice Packets not yet submitted for Eligible Expenses to Developers (with required documentation):

Delta Marriott Invoices (estimated) 82,473.15

IPUSA (pending 11/21/24) 2,350,921.26

100 Island Ave., LLC (TBD)

Stadium Park Way (pending 11/21/24) 145,149.62

Graphic Packaging (TBD)

ESTIMATED Total Remaining (w/remaining encumbrances TBD) 4,839,259.75

total work orders & other expenses from both accounts



KCBRA Fund 242 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 

2/21/25

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund ‐ Fund 242

 (Previously Fund 643) Revenues Expenditures REV‐EXP
LBRF From 2014 7,416.84 7,416.84

Transferred from Brown 7/6/2015 5,659.48 5,659.48

Transferred from Brown 12/31/2015 5,299.28 5,299.28

Transferred from Brown 8/2/2016 6,479.70 6,479.70

 Transfer from Brown 12/15/16 6,314.00 6,314.00

Transfer from Brown 7/27/17 6,984.90 6,984.90

Transfer from Brown 1/18/18 6,478.34 6,478.34

Transfer from Brown approved 5/24/18 ‐ actual 8/16/18 8,607.43 8,607.43

Transfer from Corner @ Drake Actual 8/16/18 29,537.26 29,537.26

Transfer Corner @ Drake remaining 2018 8/2/19 32,737.66 32,737.66

Transfer Corner @ Drake (‐ reimb MTT Costco) 8/2/19 158,072.02 158,072.02

Transfer from Brown 8/2/19 11,262.63 11,262.63

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 10/14/19 2,309.82 2,309.82

Transfer from Metal Mechanics School 4/16/20 677.85 677.85

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/15/20 211,427.30 211,427.30

 Envirologic WO#31 E. Frank and N. Pitcher St 11/23/20 2,966.13 ‐2,966.13

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/1/20 4,516.58 ‐4,516.58

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/31/20  7,901.92 ‐7,901.92

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 1/28/21  235.00 ‐235.00

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/22/21 243,109.06 243,109.06

Transfer from 2747 S. 11th Street ‐ Delta Marriott 9/27/21 2,100.00 2,100.00

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 9/27/21 632.18 632.18

Transfer from RAI Jets 10/28/21 11,148.99 11,148.99

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 11,504.87 ‐11,504.87

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 308.51 ‐308.51

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 1,102.50 ‐1,102.50

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 897.00 ‐897.00

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 130.00 ‐130.00

Transfer from Midlink 2/24/22 394,228.36 394,228.36

Tansfer from General  Mills 2/24/22 310,467.33 310,467.33

Transfer from RAI Jets 4/29/22 13,871.91 13,871.91

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 4/29/22 217,535.53 217,535.53

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 6/23/22 2,332.92 2,332.92

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Road BEA Due Care 225.00 ‐225.00

Transfer from Scannell 9/22/22 9,245.50 9,245.50

Transfer from General Mills 11/17/22 48,943.82 48,943.82

440 NC, LLC invoice packet  5/25/23 15,000.00 ‐15,000.00

Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 8/24/23 458.41

Transfer from RAI Jets pending 8/24/23 9,033.35

Trasfer from Stadium Park Way  8/24/23 57,124.21

Transfer from Stryker (2 payments) 10/26/23 2,254,385.84

Transfer from Midlink Business Park 10/26/23 776,830.38

Fishbeck WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 2/22/24 13,707.93

Fishbeck WO#2023‐2 YWCA 3/13/24 87,897.02

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 4/10/24 1,384.65

Fishbeck WO# 2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 4/10/24 10,292.01

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 4/30/24 10,865.65

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 5/31/24 21,086.11

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 6/30/24 20,503.72

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 7/9/24 537.50

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 7/31/24 21,345.92

Transfer from KALSEE Credit Union 8/22/24 2,036.46

Transfer from Stryker 8/22/24 245,614.16

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 8/31/24 21,303.34

Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 9/26/23 2,834.64

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 9/30/24 20,186.23

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 10/10/24 437.55

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 10/31/24 19,822.86

Transfer from Scannell 11/21/24 119,331.26

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 11/30/24 18,767.70

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 12/2/24 115.00

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 12/31/24 18,908.38

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 2/10/25 4,534.50

Subtotals 5,393,318.73 163,693.67 5,229,625.06

5,229,625.06$   

Estimated amount less encumbrances 4,811,099.26  See Expense Detail 2024 for outstanding workorders 
172,789.91

369,816.52

Total Dividend Deposits for 2024 

 Total Project Revenues for 2024 
Total Project Expenses for 2024 114,371.66

Fund 242 TOTAL to date

Item 8 b


	07 a ii Pavilion Investors, LLC Brownfield Plan 2.20(38783343.3).pdf
	Pavilion Investors_ LLC Brownfield Plan Redline 2.13(38783195.pdf
	TIF Table - JTB Homes Pavilion 10% Affordable(38524565.1).pdf
	Pavilion Investors LLC Brownfield Plan 2.20(38783343.2).pdf
	Pavilion Investors_ LLC Brownfield Plan Redline 2.13(38783195.pdf
	TIF Table - JTB Homes Pavilion 10% Affordable(38524565.1).pdf
	Pavilion Investors_ LLC Brownfield Plan 2.13(38783343.1).pdf
	ZNP4848.tmp
	Pavilion Investors_ LLC Brownfield Plan Redline 2.13(38783195.pdf
	TIF Table - JTB Homes Pavilion 10% Affordable(38524565.1).pdf
	Single Fam Capture - Portage
	Townhomes Capture - Portage
	TND Capture - Portage
	Single Fam Capture - Comstock
	TDN Capture - Comstock
	Summary Capture - Total
	Reimbursement
	Assumptions

	Pavilion Investors Eligible Activities Tables(38628362.1).pdf

	ExtractPage2






